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ACCOUNTING FOR INVESTING AND MANAGING (AIM)

Course Overview:

This course takes an in-depth and critical analysis of accounting theory. It examines the generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), the implementation of these principles, and the expanding role of the independent auditor. It addresses the role of accounting as an informational and communication system, the economic consequences of transactions, and the effects of these transactions on the financial statements of sole proprietorships and corporations. Students will prepare financial statements and analyze financial statements of public corporations. This course will investigate the treatment of inventories, depreciation methodologies, the issuance of debt and equity, and basic financial statement analysis. Contemporary controversies and ethical dilemmas will also be addressed.

The accounting profession is guided by principles to provide standardization and consistency in their work. Although the curriculum below highlights certain items in GAAP, these principles and guidelines should be infused throughout the curriculum.  

It is recommended that the use of an electronic spreadsheet program be utilized throughout the course.  However, it is possible to deliver this course without any computer access.

Topic 1:   Introduction to Accounting and the Accounting Profession

· Discuss the value and purpose of financial record keeping 

· GAAP

· Control

· Relevance

· Compatibility

· Flexibility

· Cost benefit

· Discuss the work of an accounting professional

· Role of certified public accountant, company accountant, tax accountant and bookkeeper 

· Explain the term, "certified public accountant"

· Discuss employment opportunities in the accounting profession

· Discuss employment opportunities outside of the accounting profession (i.e., sports & entertainment agent, FBI, forensic accountant, consultant, CFO, environmental accountant, e-commerce strategist)

· Discuss difference between financial and tax accounting (i.e. buying a home, depreciating an asset).

· Financial accounting - based on GAAP and provides information to parties outside of the organization

· Tax accounting - drives business strategies that are based on tax consequences and the reporting of financial information to the IRS

· Introduce the New York State Society of Certified Public Accountants (www.nysscpa.org) and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (www.aicpa.org)

· Discuss an "independent" audit by a certified public accountant

· Discuss the skill set, technical competencies and educational requirements necessary to be an accountant

·  Key skills include:

· Written communication

· Oral communications

· Analytical and critical thinking

· Decision making

· Interpersonal skills

·  Educational requirements:

· Bachelors (120 hours) with 24 hours in accounting

· Effective 2009 – 150 hours of study with 33 hours in accounting and 36 hours in general business

Student Activity 1a: (see appendix) 

Personality and career research. Using the worksheet for the activity, have students visit the various websites to complete the personality and career assessment.

Student Activity 1b:
Career Assessment. Take students to a career website and have them complete a skills and interest assessment. This will guide them towards careers in which they have an interest and/or natural aptitude. Discuss student results with class.

Topic 2:   Introduction to the Accounting Equation and Financial Statements

                (Balance Sheet, Income Statement, Statement of Changes in Owner’s 

               Equity) for Sole Proprietorship in a Service Industry

· Define sole proprietorship and service industry

· Examine each financial statement based on a model example

· Broadly discuss purposes of each financial statement

· Discuss concept of “business entity” vs. “personal assets”

· Define the terms assets, liabilities, owners equities, revenue and expenses

· Briefly introduce “classified” format of financial statements (discussed in depth in Topic 10)

· Compare two years of financial data for a company

· Examine examples of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses in our personal lives (cars, credit card debt, salary, and gas) 

· Examine examples of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses in a sole proprietorship in a service industry (Cash in Bank, Accounts Payable, Sales and Rent Expense).

· Use the following examples, reintroduce GAAP/FASB principles:

· Business Entity 

· Objectivity 

· Cost 

· Going Concern 

· Monetary Unit 

Student Activity 2: (see appendix)
Account classification. Provide students with a list of accounts to classify and determine which financial statement each account affects.

Topic 3:   Introduction to the Effects of Transactions on the Accounting Equation for a Sole Proprietorship in a Service Industry
· Compile initial balance sheet figures

· Introduce the various types of accounts presented in the various financial statements

· Discuss use of Revenue Recognition Principle and reintroduction of GAAP/FASB

· Discuss effects of simple transactions on the accounting equation (see appendix for handout)

· Purchasing an asset for cash

· Purchasing an asset on credit

· Owner investing and/or withdrawing cash from the business

· Making a payment on a loan

· Paying an expense

· Making a sale for cash

· Making a sale on credit

Student Activity 3:  (see appendix)

Effects of economic events:   The handout for this topic demonstrates the effects of economic events on financial statements. Using this as a guide, have students complete the worksheet for the simple transactions listed above. This can be completed as a guided practice, cooperative group activity or an independent practice.

Topic 4:   Generation of Balance Sheet and Income Statement 

· Creation of Balance Sheet and Income Statement

· Interpretation of the financial information presented in each statement

· Discussion of the purpose of each statement

· Introduction to GAAP concepts such full-disclosure, consistent reporting, ethical standards of reporting

Student Activity 4: (see appendix)

Create a balance sheet and income statement based on the information gathered in Activity 3. Students can do this manually or using an electronic spreadsheet. Students should be advised of the following beginning balances: Cash in Bank, $3,000; Accounts Receivable, $2,000; and Notes Payable, $5,000. The name of the company Solo Mio, Inc. and the date of the financial statements is October 31, 20--.

Topic 5:   Introduction to the Corporate Form of Business and the Effects of Transactions on the Accounting Equation

· Define a corporation

· Provide and discuss examples of corporations

· Discuss advantages and disadvantages to the corporate form of business (vs. sole proprietorship/partnership)

· Discuss terms specific to corporations 

· Retained Earnings

· Dividends

· Common Stock 

· Earnings per Share

· Discuss effects of simple transactions on the accounting equation

· Issuance of common stock

· Paying of shareholder dividends

· Issuance of bonds (at face)

· Discuss the similarities and differences between a sole proprietorship's financial statement and a corporation's financial statements

· Create a corporate balance sheet and income statement

Student Activity 5a: (see appendix)

Students complete a worksheet demonstrating the effects of the issuance of stock, the declaration and payment of dividends, the issuance of bonds and the payment of interest on bonds.

Student Activity 5b:

Compare Financial Statements of Two Corporations:  Students will compare the financial statements of two public companies. They will read the footnotes and relate GAAP full disclosure reporting requirements. Students will identify key items and significant differences between the two filings. Lead class in a discussion of these points and guide them to items they may have missed. This may be completed as cooperative group activity or independent practice.

Student Activity 5c: (see appendix)

Students will conduct an Internet scavenger hunt to find specific financial statement line items among types of annual reports. Have students interpret the data:  What does it mean? Are there any comparisons or contradictions? Are there footnotes for the items selected? If so, what information is disclosed in the footnote? Have students present findings within a classroom presentation (poster, electronic presentation, etc.).  NOTE:  It is best to have students select similar corporations.

Topic 6:   Introduction of Statement of Stockholders’ Equity (also known as the Statement of Retained Earnings) for a Corporation

· Discuss purpose of the Statement of Stockholders’ Equity 

· Examine completed Statement of Stockholders’ Equity based on a model example

· Create Statement of Stockholders’ Equity

Student Activity 6a:

Stockholders’ Equity Comparison: Expand the activity performed in Activity 5b to include a Statement of Stockholders’ Equity. Compare the Stockholders’ Equity of several companies. What affected the Stockholder’s Equity of each company (dividends, issuance of stock, performance)? Guide the class in a discussion of the findings. 

Student Activity 6b:

Evaluate Stockholders’ Equity:  Have students select an industry.  Select three comparables within that industry. Students will compare the total equity and the equity per share for each company over a three year period. How does this change for each company over the selected time horizon? Why? What is each stock currently trading at? Is it fairly priced (use the formula of equity per share = total stockholders’ equity/average number of shares outstanding)? If you were an investor, which stock do you believe is the better investment and why?

Topic 7:   Introduction to the Effects of Transactions on the Accounting Equation using a Sales/merchandising Business

· Discuss the difference between service and sales/merchandising

· Calculate the cost of goods sold (methods of determining inventory costs – LIFO, FIFO, weighted-average, and specific identification)

· Discuss Gross profit margin

· Interpret the effects of each method of determining inventory

· Discuss effects of transactions on the accounting equation

· Purchasing an asset for cash

· Purchasing goods for resale

· Making a sale for cash

· Use the following examples to reintroduce GAAP/FASB principles:

· Materiality

· Consistency

· Conservatism

Student Activity 7a:  (see appendix)

Students will calculate the Cost of Goods Sold using FIFO, LIFO and Weighted-Average for a company that purchased three computers. In addition to Cost of Goods, students will calculate the Gross Margin on Sales and Ending Inventory for each inventory method in this exercise.

Student Activity 7b: (see appendix)

Refer to handout for a cooperative learning activity using FIFO, LIFO, and Weighted-Average Cost Methods of Inventory Valuation.

Topic 8:   Introduction of Events that Require Year-end Adjustments

· Compare the accrual basis of accounting vs. cash basis of accounting

· Introduce terms “accruals” and “deferrals”

· Describe transactions that require year end adjustments, such as prepaid expenses, interest income and prepaid liabilities 

· Introduce depreciation of tangible assets (straight-line, declining-balance, and sum-of-years digits methods) and amortization of intangible assets

· Discuss effects of simple year-end adjustments on the accounting equation

· Use the following examples, reintroduce GAAP/FASB principles:

· Materiality

· Matching

· Time Period

Student Activity 8:

The Impact of Adjustments: Have students complete two versions of financial statements for a given company. One version will include adjusting entries; the second will omit these entries. Have students analyze the impact of “not doing” the adjustments. 

Topic 9:   Introduction to the Statement of Cash Flows

· Discuss purpose of the cash flow statement

· Distinguish between cash flow from operations, investments, and financing (see appendix for handout)

· Create a Statement of Cash Flows

Student Activity 9: (see appendix)

Present students with summary information from the income statement and the comparative balance sheet. Complete a Statement of Cash Flows for Nova Technologies for the year ended December 31, 20—

Topic 10:   Introduction to Classified Balance Sheet and Income Statement

· Explain the difference between current and fixed assets and liabilities

· Give examples of accounts that would be categorized accordingly

· Describe the purpose of classified financial statements

Student Activity 10:
Provide students with index cards with different assets/liabilities listed.  Either draw a long arrow on the board or tape a long arrow on a wall.  For the asset classification, put Cash in Bank on one end of the arrow and Real Estate on the other.  Ask students to put their assets along the arrow in the order of liquidity.  For the liabilities review, change arrow to reflect due dates (today v. 30 years).  Have students classify liabilities along the continuum. 

Topic 11:   Brief Introduction to Footnotes on Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report

· Use the Full Disclosure Principle to reintroduce GAAP/FASB principles

· Review of “real world” company financial statements (Statements for Tootsie Roll, McDonalds are handouts for this topic).

Student Activity 11:

Review of Audit Opinions: Have students access the AICPA website (http://www.aicpa.org/belt/a133.htm) to review types of opinions. Next, students select a public corporation of their choice. They can access the financial statements by way of the company’s website or SEC’s Edgar database (if the internet is unavailable, contact the investor relations department of several companies prior to this exercise to obtain hard copies of their annual reports). Students will review the audit opinion of their chosen company and determine the type of opinion that has been issued. Students will note who the auditor was of the opinion, where was it rendered and on what day (was there a delay?). Students will address what affect a given opinion would/did have on a corporation. Discuss how the type of opinion can affect a company. 

Topic 12:   Ethical Issues in Accounting

· Discuss the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and ethical reporting

· Analyze case studies of companies involving in accounting fraud and/or unethical practices (i.e., Enron, WorldCom, etc.) 

Student Activity 12a:

Ethical video: There are numerous videos available that deal with accounting fraud and the collapse of ethics in corporate America. Have students view one of these films to facilitate a dialogue about the ethical dilemmas that could be encountered in a corporate environment. Supplement the film with current articles on the topics of ethics and fraud.

Student Activity 12b:

Introduction to the Case Study Method:  Select a case study dealing with one of the major accounting frauds (many are available for free). Walk students through the basics of the case. Organize the students in teams of at least three individuals. Have the students work in teams to analyze the case and make real world decisions based on the information presented in the case. Have teams present their decisions.

Student Activity 12c: (see appendix)

There are several sites (including the AICPA) that have professional ethics scenario quizzes. Walk students through several scenarios.  Determine the ethical dilemma and have students formulate their response to such dilemma. Lead the class in a discussion of the results and the appropriate responses.

Topic 13:   Introduction to Basic Level Financial Ratios to Analyze the Financial Position of a Company

· Discuss the purposes of the current ratio, acid test ratio, rate of return on assets ratio, accounts receivable turnover ratio, inventory turnover ratio, earnings per share ratio, price-earnings ratio, and dividend payout ratio

· Calculate the ratios

· Compare to industry standards

· Research public sources of this information 

Student Activity 13a:

Give students copies of the financial statements of two peers (such as McDonald’s and Wendy’s, American Airlines and Continental) (students can also access this information online). Have the students read through the financial statements of each company. Students will calculate key ratios and will compare and contrast the two companies. Students can also compare each company’s performance to the industry and the S&P 500 (this information is available through numerous sources). Teacher will guide the students in discussion of how the company might be viewed by an investor and by a lender. 

Topic 14:   Discussion of the Complexity of Certain Business Transactions and the Affect on Accounting

· Evaluate transactions and reason of their complexity: 

· Asset valuation

· Liability valuation

· Revenue recognition and valuation

· Expense recognition and valuation

· Discuss resources (i.e., FASB, IRS Code)

Student Activity 14:

Many companies take part in complex transactions in the course of daily business. Guide students through the Management Discussion and Analysis section of a corporate annual report (any financial services company is a good example). Have students research how other companies handle similar situations. Have students present their finding (oral presentation, posters, electronic presentation) to the class. This may be completed as a cooperative group activity or independent practice.

Topic 15:  The Effects of Sophisticated Economic Transactions on the Accounting Equation

· Discuss a variety of transactions and their effects on the accounting equation.  Examples of these types of transactions might include:

· Accounts Receivable and Allowance of Uncollectible Accounts

· Inventories and Cost of Goods Sold 

· Prepaid Items

· Plant, Property and Equipment and Depreciation (including alternative methods of depreciation)

· Current Liabilities

· Long Term Liabilities

· Issuance of Stock

· Payment of Cash Dividends

Student Activity 15:

Guide students through the alternative methods of depreciation for a depreciable asset and the factors affecting the choice of method (tax reporting, financial reporting).  Students should calculate the various methods of depreciation for an asset. Have students analyze the effects of each method on the financial statements. Wrap up the activity by having students compare the methods of depreciation used by comparable companies (they will not always be the same).  

Topic 16:   Discussion of More Sophisticated Financial Ratio Analysis 

Student Activity 16 (Final AIM Project):

Financial ratio analysis of peer merchandising companies:. Students will select two comparable companies. Students will analyze the financial statements and calculate key ratios as directed in the handout. Students will prepare electronic presentation of their analysis.

AIM Supplemental Package:

Review of financial condition of Green Bay Packers. Discuss the findings of the review and questions for consideration. Have students calculate the effects of transactions on the financial statements of the organization.
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Activity 1a

Personality and Career Research

Accounting – Personality & Career Project

1. Logon onto the following website: www.humanmetrics.com/cgi-win/Jtypes1.htm  
2. Begin by clicking “Do It”.  Complete the test by answering each question.  You will have to pick the option that describes you the best – even though several characteristics under each option may apply.  When finish, click “Score it.”  Then:

a. Write down your 4-letter personality code. ______________

b. Go to http://www.doi.gov/octc/typescar.html, write down three career choices that appeal to you that are listed under your code.

3. Go to http://www.careerkey.org/english/

4. Under the subtitle, “You”, take The Career Key Test.    Work your way through the test answering the questions.  

5. Upon completion, list your rating for each category below:

Realistic__________
Investigative_______________
Artistic________________

Social____________
Enterprising_______________
Conventional___________

6. Follow the four steps listed to find at least three careers for your highest scoring personality trait, the second highest scoring and then the third highest scoring trait.  Write down the nine (9) careers.

a. Highest scoring trait

b. Second highest scoring trait

c. Third highest scoring trait

7. Go  to http://www.bls.gov/oco/
8. Click on the Management category at the right and then select Accountants and Auditors.

9. Read Nature of Work
a. What do Public accountants do?  List three things.

b. What do Management accountants do?  List three things.

c. What do Government accountants do?  List three things.

d. What do internal auditors do?  List three things.

e. How does the use of computers change the nature of the work for most accountants?

10. Go to Employment – How many people were employed as accountants in 2000?

11. Go to Training, Other Qualifications, and Advancement.
a. What is the minimum educational requirement?

b. What are the additional requirements to be a CPA (list 3 briefly)

c. Skip to paragraph 11 and list 3 aptitudes that an accountant must have.

12. Go to Job Outlook
a. What type of growth is anticipated?

b. What attribute will help you get a job in this profession

13. Go to Earnings
a. What kind of earnings can you anticipate?  List the top of the range and the bottom of the range.

14. Go back to the main menu in OOH and select one of the careers you listed as a result of your Personality Type and answer the following questions:

a. Read Nature of Work – What does a person in this career do?  List three things.

b. Go to Employment – How many people were employed in this position in 2000?

c. Go to Training, Other Qualifications, and Advancement.
i. What is the minimum educational requirement?

ii. Skip to the end of the section and see if you can list 3 aptitudes you should have for this career.

d. Go to Job Outlook
i. What type of growth is anticipated in this career?

ii. What special attribute will help you get a job in this career?

e. Go to Earnings
i. What kind of earnings can you anticipate?  List the top of the range and the bottom of the range.

15. Go back to the main menu in OOH and find one of the careers you listed as a result of your Career Key and answer the following questions

a. Read Nature of Work – What does a person this career do?  List three things.

b. Go to Employment – How many people were employed in this position in 2000?

c. Go to Training, Other Qualifications, and Advancement.
i. What is the minimum educational requirement?

ii. Skip to the end of the section and see if you can list 3 aptitudes you should have for this career.

d. Go to Job Outlook
i. What type of growth is anticipated in this career?

ii. What special attribute will help you get a job in this career?

e. Go to Earnings
i. What kind of earnings can you anticipate?  List the top of the range and the bottom of the range.

Activity 2

Account Classification

Listed below are accounts for Showtime Video Rentals. Identify the classification of the account (Asset (A), Liability (L), Owner’s Equity (OE), Revenue (R) or Expense (E)). Once the account has been classified, note on which financial statement this account would be found (Balance Sheet (BS), Income Statement (IS) or Statement of Changes in Owner’s Equity (OE).

	Utilities Expense
	
	Cash in Bank
	

	Accounts Receivable
	
	Rent Expense
	

	Accounts Payable
	
	Milinda Woo, Drawing
	

	Office Equipment
	
	Office Furniture
	

	Equipment Expense
	
	Video Rental Revenue
	

	Video Tapes
	
	Computer Equipment
	

	Milinda Woo, Capital
	
	VCR Rental Revenue
	

	Advertising Expense
	
	Video Equipment
	

	Rent Expense
	
	Maintenance Expense
	

	Equipment Repair Expense
	
	Salaries Expense
	

	Income Tax Expense 
	
	Income Tax Payable
	

	Prepaid Insurance
	
	DVDs
	

	Computer Games
	
	Foods Inventory
	


ANSWER KEY

Listed below are accounts for Showtime Video Rentals. Identify the classification of the account (Asset (A), Liability (L), Owner’s Equity (OE), Revenue (R) or Expense (E)). Once the account has been classified, note on which financial statement this account would be found (Balance Sheet (BS), Income Statement (IS) or Statement of Changes in Owner’s Equity (OE).

	Utilities Expense
	E, IS, SOE
	Cash in Bank
	A, BS

	Accounts Receivable
	A, BS
	Rent Expense
	E, IS, SOE

	Accounts Payable
	L, BS 
	Milinda Woo, Drawing
	OE, BS, SOE

	Office Equipment
	A, BS
	Office Furniture
	A, BS

	Equipment Expense
	E, IS, SOE
	Video Rental Revenue
	R, IS, SOE

	Video Tapes
	A, BS
	Computer Equipment
	A, BS

	Milinda Woo, Capital
	OE, BS, SOE
	VCR Rental Revenue
	R, IS, SOE

	Advertising Expense
	E, IS, SOE
	Video Equipment
	A, BS

	Rent Expense
	E, IS, SOE
	Maintenance Expense
	E, IS, SOE

	Equipment Repair Expense
	E, IS, SOE
	Salaries Expense
	E, IS, SOE

	Income Tax Expense 
	E, IS, SOE
	Income Tax Payable
	L, BS 

	Prepaid Insurance
	A, BS
	DVDs
	A, BS

	Computer Games
	A, BS
	Foods Inventory
	A, BS
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Example of using balance sheet equations (without journal or ledger) to prepare Financial Statements

Description of economic events and transactions
1A person began business by investing $10.000 cash into it was a business in which the owner washed
windows for homeowners

2 They hired one worker. promising to pay him by the job_As of now. he had not washed any vindows
and he had not yet been paid

3 On 1/1/X1. they rented some window washing equipment. paying $6.000 rent to cover 3 years warth of rent

4| During the year. the company washed windows for a fee of $30.000._ 528,000 was for cash and
the remaining $2.000 was on credit. The customer was to pay them during the following year

5 |During the year. the employee was paid for §7.000 of work he performed

6 | During the last week of the year. the employee eamed another S600 salary. However that amount would
not be paid until next year

Affect of events and transactions on balance sheet equation

Assets Liab _+ Owners Equity
Cash | [AcctRec| | Prepaid | | Wages Paidin | | Retained
Rent | Payable Capital | _Eamings

1 10000 10,000

2 (o exchange of anything of economic substance — Thus no transactions)

3 8000) 6.000
4 28000 2000 30000 Revenue —»
5 (7.000) {7.000)|Salary Expense
Year end -~ adjustments are needed as follows
6 600 (600)|Splary Expense
7 ©.000) (2.000) Reht Expense
Bal 26000 + 2000 + 4000 =600 + 10,000 +__ 20400
Eiancia Stsermerts ghuarsod vmu(ha\ances in eu\\a\/nn /
Balafice Sheet Tncoms Staghent
ASSETS LABILITY & OWNERS EQUF fenice Revenue \ \ 30.000
Current Absets urtent Liabilties oss
Cash Y—> 75000 Wages Payable 600 | | Salary Exp (7.600)
AR 2,000 Rent Exp. 2.000)
Prepaid Owners Equity
Rent 4000 Paid in Cap 10000/
Retained Eamings | 20.400' et Income 20400
Total Assets | 31.000 | Total Liab. & Owners Equity | 31.000





Activity 3

Effects of Economic Events and the Accounting Equation

Using the accounting equation, demonstrate the effects of the following economic events:

1. Purchasing a desk for $500 cash

2. Purchasing a $5,000 computer on credit

3. Owner investing $10,000 cash in the business

4. Making payment on a $3,500 loan

5. Paying $600 for insurance

6. Making a $2,000 sale for cash

7. Making a 44,500 sale on credit

Assets



=
Liabilities
+ 

Owner Equity

   Cash  A/R
  Office    Computer
    Notes  
    A/P

Paid-In
Retained


   Furn.    Equip.
    Payable


Capital
Earnings

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1.

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

2.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

3.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

4.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

5.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

6.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

7.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Bal.












 














ANSWER KEY

Using the accounting equation, demonstrate the effects of the following economic events:

8. Purchasing a desk for $500 cash

9. Purchasing a $5,000 computer on credit

10. Owner investing $10,000 cash in the business

11. Making payment on a $3,500 loan

12. Paying $600 for insurance

13. Making a $2,000 sale for cash

14. Making a 4,500 sale on credit

Assets



=
Liabilities
+ 

Owner Equity

     Cash
A/R
Office
 Computer
Notes
    A/P

Paid-In          Retained




Furn.
 Equip.
Payable

Capital
Earnings

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1. (500)

500

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

2.



5,000


5,000







-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

3. 10,000







10,000

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

4. (3,500)




(3,500)

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

5. (600)









(600)

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

6. 2,000









2,000

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

7.  

4,500








4,500

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Bal. 7,400
4,500
500
5,000

(3,500)
 5,000

10,000
5,900

Activity 4

Balance Sheet and Income Statement Creation

	
	Solo Mio, Inc.
	
	

	
	Balance Sheet
	
	

	
	October 31, 20--
	
	

	
	
	
	

	Assets
	
	
	

	Cash in Bank
	
	
	

	Accounts Receivable
	
	
	

	Computer Equipment
	
	
	

	Office Furniture
	
	 
	

	    Total Assets
	
	
	 

	Liabilities
	
	
	

	Accounts Payable
	
	
	

	Notes Payable
	
	 
	

	    Total Liabilities  
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	Owner's Equity
	
	
	

	Paid-in-Capital
	
	
	

	Retained Earnings
	
	 
	

	    Total Owner's Equity
	
	
	 

	    Total Liabilities and Owner's Equity
	
	 

	
	
	
	


	
	Solo Mio, Inc.
	
	

	
	Income Statement
	
	

	
	For the Month Ended October 31, 20--
	
	

	
	
	
	

	Revenue:
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	Expenses:
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	
	 
	

	
	Total Expenses
	
	

	
	
	
	

	Net Income
	
	 

	
	
	
	


ANSWER KEY

	
	Solo Mio, Inc.
	
	
	

	
	Balance Sheet
	
	
	

	
	October 31, 20--
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	

	Assets
	
	
	
	

	Cash in Bank
	
	    10,400 
	
	

	Accounts Receivable
	
	     6,500 
	
	

	Computer Equipment
	
	        500 
	
	

	Office Furniture
	
	     5,000 
	
	

	    Total Assets
	
	
	    22,400 
	

	Liabilities
	
	
	
	

	Accounts Payable
	
	     5,000 
	
	

	Notes Payable
	
	     1,500 
	
	

	    Total Liabilities  
	
	
	     6,500 
	

	
	
	
	
	

	Owner's Equity
	
	
	
	

	Paid-in-Capital
	
	    10,000 
	
	

	Retained Earnings
	
	     5,900 
	
	

	    Total Owner's Equity
	
	
	    15,900 
	

	    Total Liabilities and Owner's Equity
	
	
	    22,400 
	

	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	

	
	Solo Mio, Inc.
	
	
	

	
	Income Statement
	
	
	

	
	For the Month Ended October 31, 20--
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	

	Revenue:
	
	
	
	

	Sales
	
	
	     6,500 
	

	
	
	
	
	

	Expenses:
	
	
	
	

	Insurance Expense
	
	        600 
	
	

	
	Total Expenses
	
	        600 
	

	
	
	
	
	

	Net Income
	
	
	     5,900 
	


Activity 5a

Effects of Simple Transactions

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	                                       GENERAL JOURNAL
	
	
	Page 5
	

	 
	 
	 
	 
	POST.
	 
	 
	 

	 
	       DATE
	DESCRIPTION
	REF
	DEBIT
	CREDIT
	 

	1
	20--
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	1

	2
	Jan.
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	2

	3
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	3

	4
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	4

	5
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	5

	6
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	6

	7
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	7

	8
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	8

	9
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	9

	10
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	10

	11
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	11

	12
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	12

	13
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	13

	14
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	14

	15
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	15

	16
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	16

	17
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	17

	18
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	18

	19
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	19

	20
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	20

	21
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	21

	22
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	22

	23
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	23

	24
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	24

	25
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	25

	26
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	26

	27
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	27

	28
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	28

	29
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	29

	30
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	30

	31
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	31

	32
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	32

	33
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	33

	34
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	34


	Record the following transactions in the General Journal provided:
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	1. On Jan. 1, the company issues 4,500 shares of preferred 8% stock at par ($50)
	

	    and 125,000 shares of common stock at par ($5).
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	2. On March 31, declared a quarterly dividend of $1.00 per share on common stock and 
	

	    recognized the dividend due on preferred stock.
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	3. On March 31, the Board of Directors autorized the issuance of $500,000, 6%, 10-year

	    bonds (face value of $1,000). Interest is paid semi-annually on June 30 and December 31.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	4. On April 15, the company paid dividends on common and preferred stock.
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	5. On June 30, the company paid interest on bonds.
	
	
	
	


ANSWER KEY

	
	
	
	                                       GENERAL JOURNAL
	
	
	Page 5
	

	 
	 
	 
	 
	POST.
	 
	 
	 

	 
	       DATE
	DESCRIPTION
	REF
	DEBIT
	CREDIT
	 

	1
	20--
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	1

	2
	Jan
	1
	Cash
	 
	850,000.00
	 
	2

	3
	 
	 
	    Preferred 8% Stock
	 
	 
	225,000.00
	3

	4
	 
	 
	    Common Stock
	 
	 
	625,000.00
	4

	5
	 
	 
	       To record the issuance of debt and equity
	 
	 
	 
	5

	6
	Mar
	31
	Dividends - Common Stock
	 
	125,000.00
	 
	6

	7
	 
	 
	Dividends - Preferred Stock
	 
	4,500.00
	 
	7

	8
	 
	 
	    Dividends Payable - Common Stock
	 
	 
	125,000.00
	8

	9
	 
	 
	    Dividends Payable - Preferred Stock
	 
	 
	4,500.00
	9

	10
	 
	 
	       To record the declaration of dividends
	 
	 
	 
	10

	11
	 
	31
	Cash
	 
	500,000.00
	 
	11

	12
	 
	 
	    6% Bonds Payable
	 
	 
	500,000.00
	12

	13
	 
	 
	      To record the issuance of bonds
	 
	 
	 
	13

	14
	Apr
	15
	Dividends Payable - Common Stock
	 
	125,000.00
	 
	14

	15
	 
	 
	Dividends Payable - Preferred Stock
	 
	4,500.00
	 
	15

	16
	 
	 
	    Cash
	 
	 
	129,500.00
	16

	17
	 
	 
	      To record the payment of dividends on stock
	 
	 
	 
	17

	18
	Jun
	30
	Bond Interest Expense
	 
	15,000.00
	 
	18

	19
	 
	 
	    Cash
	 
	 
	15,000.00
	19

	20
	 
	 
	      To record the payment of semi-annual bond interest
	 
	 
	 
	20

	21
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	21

	22
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	22

	23
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	23

	24
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	24

	25
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	25

	26
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	26

	27
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	27

	28
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	28

	29
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	29

	30
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	30

	31
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	31

	32
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	32

	33
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	33

	34
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	34


Activity 5c

Internet Scavenger Hunt

Conduct an internet scavenger hunt for the following financial statement line items:

1. Cash from McDonalds and Wendy’s

2. Accounts Receivable from Target and Wal-Mart

3. Inventory from The Gap and Abercrombie & Fitch

4. Property, Plant and Equipment from Verizon Communications and MCI Inc.

5. Long-term Debt from UPS and FEDEX

6. Stockholder’s Equity for American Airlines and Continental

7. Net Sales from Cisco and Microsoft

8. Net Income from eBay and Google

You may use the company’s websites to collect the data or go to the SEC website (http://www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml)

ANSWER KEY

Student presentations will vary

Activity 7a

Inventory Comparison of Cost Flow Assumptions

Directions: Calculate the Cost of Goods Sold, Gross Margin on Sales and Ending Inventory for each inventory method.

Assumed Data:

	Beginning Inventory
	

	     Computer 1 Cost
	$2,500

	     Computer 2 Cost
	$2,650

	     Computer 3 Cost
	$3,250

	  Cost of Goods Available for Sale
	$8,400

	Sales: One Computer
	$5,000


	
	Cost Flow Assumptions

	Financial Statements
	FIFO
	Weighted-

Average
	LIFO

	Sales
	
	
	

	Cost of Goods Sold
	
	
	

	Gross Margin on Sales
	
	
	

	Ending Inventory
	
	
	


ANSWER KEY

	
	Cost Flow Assumptions

	Financial Statements
	FIFO
	Weighted-

Average
	LIFO

	Sales
	$5,000
	$5,000
	$5,000

	Cost of Goods Sold
	(a) $2,500
	(b) $2,800
	(c) $3,250

	Gross Margin on Sales
	$2,500
	$2,200
	$1,750

	Ending Inventory
	(d) $5,900
	(e) $5,600
	(f) $5,150


(a) Computer 1 costs $2,500

(b) Average computer cost is $2,800 = ($8,400/3)

(c) Computer 3 costs $3,250

(d) Computers 2 and 3 cost $2,650 + $3,250 = $5,900

(e) Two average computer cost 2 x $2,800 = $5,600

(f) Computer 1 and 2 cost $2,500 + $2,650 = $5,150

Activity 7b:

Cooperative Learning Activity

FIFO, LIFO, Weighted Average Cost Methods

Learn FIFO, LIFO, and Weighted-Average Cost Methods of Inventory Valuation

1. Divide class into three groups.

a. Give the same inventory information to each group.

b. Each group will apply ONE of the three inventory methods to determine ending inventory value.

c. Each group will develop a teaching strategy to explain their method to the rest of the class.

d. Each group will teach while the other groups learn.

2. Review the three methods and give each student an inventory problem that will incorporate all three methods.

Topic Handout 9


[image: image3]
Activity 9

Preparation of Statement of Cash Flows

	Use the following information to prepare the Statement of Cash Flows for Nova Technologies:

	(in thousands)
	

	
	

	Acquisition of Manufacturing Plant
	$19,000

	Dividends
	$30,000

	Income Tax Expense
	$173,000

	Interest Expense
	$87,000

	Interest Income
	$55,000

	Issuance of 8% 30-year Bonds
	$40,000

	Issuance of Common Stock
	$110,000

	Operating Expenses
	$825,000

	Purchase of Marketable Securities
	$7,500

	Purchases
	$1,085,000

	Repayment of Long-term Debt
	$10,000

	Sale of Real Estate
	$3,500

	Sales to Customers 
	$2,165,000

	
	

	
	Nova Technologies
	
	

	
	Statement of Cash Flows
	
	

	
	For the Year Ended December 31, 20--
	
	

	
	
	
	

	Cash Flows from Operating Activities
	
	

	     Cash Receipts from:
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	
	 
	

	
	Total Cash Receipts form Operating Activities
	
	

	     Cash Payments for:
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	
	 
	

	
	Total Cash Payments for Operating Activities
	
	 

	Net Cash from Operating Activities
	
	

	Cash Flows from Investing Activities
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	
	 
	

	Net Cash from Investing Activities
	
	

	Cash Flows from Financing Activities
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	Nova Technologies
	
	

	
	Statement of Cash Flows
	
	

	
	For the Year Ended December 31, 20--
	
	

	
	
	
	

	Cash Flows from Operating Activities
	
	

	     Cash Receipts from:
	
	

	
	Sales to Customers 
	$2,165,000
	

	
	Interest Income
	55,000
	

	
	Total Cash Receipts form Operating Activities
	
	$2,220,000

	     Cash Payments for:
	
	

	
	Purchases
	$1,085,000
	

	
	Operating Expenses
	825,000 
	

	
	Interest Expense
	87,000 
	

	
	Income Tax Expense
	173,000 
	

	
	Total Cash Payments for Operating Activities
	
	2,170,000 

	Net Cash from Operating Activities
	
	$50,000

	Cash Flows from Investing Activities
	
	

	
	Acquisition of Manufacturing Plant
	($28,000)
	

	
	Purchase of Marketable Securities
	(8,000)
	

	
	Sale of Real Estate
	6,000 
	

	Net Cash from Investing Activities
	
	(30,000)

	Cash Flows from Financing Activities
	
	

	
	Issuance of 8% 30-year Bonds
	$40,000
	

	
	Issuance of Common Stock
	110,000 
	

	
	Dividends
	(30,000)
	

	
	Repayment of Long-term Debt
	(10,000)
	

	Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities
	
	110,000

	Net Change to Cash
	
	$130,000


Activity 12c

Professional Ethics

	December '96 Quiz - Journal of Accountancy 


	
	
	
	

	
	 
	Test Your Knowledge of Professional Ethics
Practicing in Industry

Periodically, the Journal publishes questions on ethics topics that have been raised by American Institute of CPAs members. This set is directed toward Institute members practicing in industry.* 

QUESTIONS 
Rule 102—Integrity and Objectivity 

1. A member in industry is instructed by his or her supervisor to record a transaction in a manner that he or she believes would result in a material misstatement of the employers financial statements. If, after appropriate research and consultation, the member determines that the transaction cannot be recorded under an acceptable alternative, should he or she comply with the supervisors instructions? 

2. A member in industry has been asked to sign a management representation letter that contains material misrepresentations of facts. Should the member sign the letter? 

3. A member in industry prepares tax returns out of his or her home during "tax busy season." The member, who has prepared the joint tax returns of a married couple for the past few years, is asked to provide tax services for each party during their divorce. May the member provide services for both parties? 

Rule 202—Compliance With Standards 

4. A member in public practice is also a part-time employee of an entity and in this capacity prepares his or her employers financial statements. May the member transmit the employers financial statements to a bank for the purpose of obtaining a loan? 

Rule 203—Accounting Principles 

5. May a member in industry submit his or her employers financial statements to a third party with a representation that they were prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles if the financial statements contain a material departure from an established accounting principle? 

Rule 301—Confidential Client Information 

6. A member in industry believes that his or her employer may have committed an illegal act. After discussing the matter with his or her attorney, the member decides to disclose the matter to the appropriate authorities. Does the Code of Professional Conduct permit the member to do so? 

Rule 501—Acts Discreditable 

7. Due to time constraints, a member in industry directs his newly hired accounting staff to prepare the monthly closing entries but fails to review them for propriety. As a result, the financial statements contain material false and misleading information. Could the member be in violation of Rule 501Acts Discreditable? 

ANSWERS 

1. No. Under Interpretation 102-4, if the member concludes that the financial statements could be materially misstated, he or she should discuss the concerns with the appropriate higher level(s) of management and consider documenting his or her understanding of the facts, the accounting principles involved, the application of the accounting principles to the facts and the parties with whom the matters were discussed. If the member then concludes that appropriate action was not taken, the member may wish to consider his or her continuing relationship with the employer and any responsibility to communicate the matter to third parties, including the employers external accountants. The member also may wish to consult with legal counsel. 

2. No. If a member signs such a letter, he or she would be in violation of Rule 102Integrity and Objectivity. 

3. Yes, provided that the member believes both services can be performed with objectivity, disclosure regarding the nature of the services is made to each party and each party consents to the member providing the services. During the performance of the services, the member should consider his or her professional responsibility to each client under Rule 301Confidential Client Information. 

4. Yes. The transmittal should clearly indicate that the member is an employee of the entity and should not imply that the member is independent of the employer. 

5. No. Rule 203Accounting Principles provides that a member shall not state affirmatively that financial statements are in conformity with GAAP if the statements contain any departure from an established accounting principle that has a material effect on the financial statements. 

6. Rule 301Confidential Client Information applies only to members in public practice. Therefore, the disclosure of such information to the appropriate authorities would not result in a violation of the Code of Professional Conduct. 

7. Yes. Under Interpretation 501-4, a member, who by virtue of his or her negligence, makes or permits another to make false and misleading entries in the financial statements is considered to have committed an act discreditable to the profession. 

*This quiz is based on responses of the AICPA professional ethics division staff to members inquiries. It is not a pronouncement of the professional ethics executive committee nor does it purport to set forth an official position of the AICPA. In addition, the questions and answers do not address the requirements of other regulatory bodies, such as the state boards of accountancy and the Securities and Exchange Commission, whose positions may differ from those of the AICPA. 
Edited by Lisa A. Snyder, technical manager, in the AICPA professional ethics division. 
	


AIM Final Project

Directions: 

Have students select two merchandizing companies that are considered to be competitors (Fed Ex and UPS, McDonald’s and Wendy’s, Hershey and Tootsie Roll).  After selecting their companies they should search the Internet to locate the company’s financial statements for two different years.  Using the financial statements the students should answer the following questions for each company and create an electronic presentation that analyzes both companies and ultimately makes a recommendation as to what company is most successful.  The opening slide of the presentation should provide a brief history of each company.

1. What is the return on equity for Company A?

2. What is the return on equity for Company B?

3. Find two additional companies and determine the return on equity for each.  Using this information what is the average return on equity for all four companies?  How does Company A and Company B compare to the average return on equity for this industry?

4. Would if be appropriate to calculate the modified return on equity for your selected companies?  Why or why not?  If it is appropriate, calculate the modified return on equity.  (You may have to have your students estimate the value of the owner’s effort).

5. What are the total assets for Company A and Company B?

6. What is the debt ratio for Company A and Company B?

7. Based up the information obtained from questions 5 and 6, what company has the best financial leverage?  Explain.

8. What is the profit margin Company A and Company B?

9. Based upon the calculation of the profit margin, what company is the most successful?  

10. Would you have been able to make the same analysis in question 9 by just looking at the financial statements?  Explain.

11. Calculate the current ratio for Company A and Company B for both years of the financial statements.  Which company has the best financial leverage to pay off their short-term obligation?

12. Analyze the current ration for Company A and Company B for the past two years.  What can you derive from this information?

13. How does the current ratio for Company A and Company B compare to the industry average?  (Note:  You will need to determine the industry average by calculating the current ratio for two other comparable companies or consulting research sites).

14. Calculate the Gross Margin and the Gross Margin Ratio for Company A and Company B.  Which company earns more in gross margin for each dollar of net sales?

15. What has happened to the Gross Margin for Company A and Company B over the last two years?  Has is it increased or decreased?

16. What is the inventory turnover for Company A and Company B for the two years selected?

17. What are the days sales in inventory for Company A and Company B for the two years selected?

18. What can you determine from the information that was obtained in question #15 and #16 for Company A and Company B?

19. What are the total revenues for Company A and Company B for the two years selected?

20. What is the percent change over the two-year period for Company A and Company B?  What can you derive from this information?

21. Compute the days sales uncollected for Company A and Company B.  What can you derive from this information?

22. Calculate the accounts receivable turn over for Company A and Company B for the two years selected.  How many days on average does it take each company to collect receivables?  

23. Based upon the accounts receivable turnover what company seems to be more efficient in collecting debts?

24. Calculate the total asset turnover for the two years selected for Company A and Company B.  What can you derive from this information?

25. Calculate the time interest earned for Company A and Company B for the two years selected.  What company appears to be stronger in its ability to pay their obligations should their income decline in the future?

TEACHER RESOURCES

Accounting Industry:

· The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (http://www.aicpa.org)

· Financial Accounting Standards Board (http://www.fasb.org)

· New York State Society of CPAs (http://www.nysscpa.org)

· Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (http://www.deloitte.com

· Ernst and Young (http://www.ey.com)

· KPMG (http://www.kpmg.com)

· PricewaterhouseCoopers (http://www.pwcglobal.com)

· The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (http://www.coso.org)

· Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (http://www.pcaobus.org) 

· Tax and Accounting Sites Directory (http://www.taxsites.com/)

Business Information, Research and News:

· CFO Magazine (http://www.cfo.com)

· The CPA Journal (http://www.cpajournal.com)

· Bloomberg (http://www.bloomberg.com) 

· Hoovers, Inc. (http://www.hoovers.com)

· Investopedia (http://www.investopedia.com/)

· MSN (http://www.moneycentral.msn.com)

· Securities and Exchange Commission (http://www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml)

· Standard & Poor’s (http://www.standardandpoors.com) 

· ValueLine (http://www.valueline.com)

· Zack’s (http://www.zacks.com)

Career Information, News and Opportunities:

· Bureau of Labor Statistic (http://www.bls.gov/oco/)
· Careers in Business (http://www.careers-in-business.com) 

· CareerKey (http://www.careerkey.org/cgi-bin/ck.pl?action=choices)

· Career Zone http://www.nycareerzone.org/flash/assessment/index.jsp;jsessionid=C89116BBB276FD
· Department of Interior (http://www.doi.gov/octc/typescar.html)
· HumanMetrics (http://www.humanmetrics.com/cgi-win/Jtypes1.htm)
· JobWeb career profiles (http://www.jobweb.com/resources/profile.asp)

Cultural Differences in Business:

· Executive Planet (http://www.executiveplanet.com/)

· Crazy Colour (http://www.crazycolour.com/os/)

Ethics and Fraud

· Association of Certified Fraud Examiners (http://www.cfenet.com/about/about.asp)

· Business Ethics.ca is a Canadian site dealing with global business ethics issues (http://www.businessethics.ca/cases/index.html)

· Bob Jensen of Trinity University has two good websites tracking accounting fraud (http://www.trinity.edu/rjensen/fraud.htm) (http://www.trinity.edu/rjensen/FraudEnron.htm)

· Santa Clara University (http://www.scu.edu/ethics/practicing/focusareas/cases.cfm?fam=BUSI)

· USAToday case studies (http://www.usatoday.com/educate/college/business/casestudies/20030128-accountingfraud3.pdf)

Lesson Plans:

· The Association to Advance Collegiate Schools of Business (http://www.aacsb.edu/resource_centers/EthicsEdu/tools.asp)

· Financial Times (http://www.thetimes100.co.uk/teachers/)

· Professor William G. Drom’s website to supplement his book, Finance and Accounting for Nonfinancial Managers, (http://www.msb.georgetown.edu/faculty/dromsw)

· Harvard Business School  (http://harvardbusinessonline.hbsp.harvard.edu/b01/en/academic/edu_casemethod.jhtml)

· Tonya Skinner’s Business Education Lesson Plans and Resources (http://lessonplans.btskinner.com/acctg.html)

· WannaLearn.com (http://www.wannalearn.com/Business_and_Careers/Accounting/)

News Sources:

While the following sites require a subscription to gain full access, you can get news summaries for free. Some of these sites will provide a free subscription for a brief period of time.

· The Wall Street Journal (http://online.wsj.com/public/us)

· Barron’s (http://online.barrons.com/public/main/)

· American Banker (http://www.americanbanker.com)

· Financial Times (http://www.ft.com)

Films:

There are numerous films that are excellent for use with this course. Below is just a small sampling.

· Bigger than Enron. Director: Marc Shaffer. PBS FRONTLINE, 2002. 

· Tax Me if You Can. Director: Rick Young. PBS Frontline, 2003. 
· Takin’ Care of Business. AICPA

· Ethics in Corporate America, A Crisis in Credibility. The News Hour with Jim Lehrer, 2004.
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Tootsie Roll Industries, Inc. has been engaged in the manufacture and sale
of confectionery products for 108 years. Our products are primarily sold
under the familiar brand names, Tootsie Roll, Tootsie Roll Pops, Caramel
Apple Pops, Child's Play, Charms, Blow Pop, Blue Razz, Cella's chocolate
covered cherries, Mason Dots, Mason Crows, Junior Mints, Charleston Chew,
Sugar Daddy, Sugar Babies, Andes, Fluffy Stuff cotton candy, Dubble
Bubble, Razzles, Cry Baby, Nik-L-Nip and El Bubble.

Corporate Principles

We believe that the differences among companies are attributable to the
caliber of their people, and therefore we strive to attract and retain superior
people for each job.

We believe that an open family atmosphere at work combined with
professional management fosters cooperation and enables each individual to
maximize his or her contribution to the company and realize the
corresponding rewards.

We do not jeopardize long-term growth for immediate, short-term resuilts.

We maintain a conservative financial posture in the deployment and
management of our assets.

We run a trim operation and continually strive to eliminate waste, minimize
cost and implement performance improvements.

We invest in the latest and most productive equipment to deliver the best
quality product to our customers at the lowest cost.

We seek to outsource functions where appropriate and to vertically integrate Melvin J. Gordon, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and
operations where it is financially advantageous to do so. Elfen R. Gordon, President and Chief Operating Officer.

We view our well known brands as prized assets to be aggressively
advertised and promoted to each new generation of consumers.

o ————
We conduct business with the highest ethical standards and integrity which Mﬂelnll
are codified in the Company's “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.” T




[image: image6.jpg]To Our Shareholders

Sales in 2004 increased to

$420 million compared to 2003 sales
of $392 million. This represents a
new record level of sales for the
company.

Net earnings in 2004 were

$64 million as compared to

$65 million in 2003. On a per share
basis, earnings increased from $1.22
in 2003 to $1.23 in 2004. The
increase in earnings per share
results from fewer shares
outstanding in 2004 due to stock
repurchases.

Other highlights of 2004 include:

¢ We purchased Concord
Confections, the largest
acquisition in the company’s
history.

¢ Cash dividends were paid for
the sixty-second consecutive
year, earning us recognition
as a "Dividend Aristocrat” by
Standard & Poors and a
“Dividend Achiever” by
Mergent.

Our fortieth consecutive
annual 3% stock dividend was
distributed in April.

Again this year, capital
expenditures were made for
projects that will improve
operating efficiencies and
support growth.

Our conservative financial posture
coupled with many years of
profitable operations enabled us to
make these significant outlays

Financial Highlights

December 31,
2004 2003

NetSales ...................
Net Eamings . ................

Working Capital .. ........... ..

Net Property, Plant and
Equipment ... .. ... ...

Shareholders’ Equity . .. .. .......

Average Shares Outstanding* . . . ..
Per Share Items*
Net Earnings . ...............
Cash Dividends Paid . . .. .. .. ...

(in thousands except per share data)

$420,110 $392,656
64,174 65,014
110,376 180,818
178,750 129,163
570,179 536,581
52,366 53,305
$1.28 $1.22

28 27

*Adjusted for stock dividends

without incurring undue leverage or
putting the company at financial risk.
Of the $154 million borrowed in
August in conjunction with the
Concord purchase, approximately
40% or $62 million was paid back,
and cash and investments, net of
interest bearing debt, was

$86 million by year end.

We remain prepared to capitalize on
appropriate investment opportunities
as they may arise. These may
include initiatives to develop niche
products, investment in strategically
or economically prudent capital
projects and pursuit of additional
complementary business
acquisitions. We remain active in our
evaluation of opportunities in each of
these areas.

Sales and Marketing

We have long recognized the
competitive advantage of having
strong brands which position us well
against the continuing onslaught of
low priced foreign imports, private
label imitators and branded
competition from other confectionery
manufacturers.

In 2004 we again offered focused
promotional programs such as
bonus bags, shippers and combo
packs to high volume classes of
trade. These programs reinforce the
attributes of quality and value that
consumers expect and generate
high-tumn, profitable use of shelf and
floor space that retailers demand.

We also successfully continued our
sales initiatives in the growing dollar
store class of trade. Consumers who
frequent these outlets tend to be
value oriented in their purchasing
decisions, and find that our brands
deliver excellent quality at an
affordable price.

Halloween was once again our
strongest sales period. Our bagged
goods, in particular our popular
mixed bags assortments such as
Childs Play, continued to sell well
through the mass merchandise,
drug, supermarket and warehouse
club venues.

Outside of Halloween, our line of
“theater’” products continued to
receive good consumer acceptance
in the drug, mass merchandise,
supermarket and dollar store trade
classes. This family of products
presents many of our most popular
candies to consumers in large
“theater sized” reclosable boxes with
attractive display panels.

Brands featured in this line include
four varieties of Dots as well as
Crows, Sugar Babies, Mini-Charleston
Chews and Junior Mints. In 2004 we
introduced a new item in the theater
box format-Junior Caramels. These
boxed candies put the company in a
strong position in regard to sales to
theaters and to home video sections
of self-service outlets.

Junior Caramels

Junior Caramels consist of delicious
soft caramel centers enrobed in a
shell of rich milk chocolate and
polished to a beautiful shine. They
were offered on a limited
intreductory basis in 2004, and met
with enthusiastic consumer
acceptance. National rollout is
planned for 2005. Junior Caramels
are an excellent example of the type
of niche product extension we
continually seek.
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itemns from mixed assortments, and
introduced them as stand-alone,
"'Limited Edition" goods. Packaged
in foil bags to preserve freshness,
Chocolate Tootsie Pops and Vanilla
Tootsie Rolls gave consumers an
opportunity to indulge in their
personal favorite treats.

Limited Edition Tootsie Rolls and Tootsie
Paps

Exciternent about the Tootsie Pop
brand was further stimulated by the
addition of a sixth flavor to our
traditional five-flavor mix. Consumers
can now enjoy one of three
tantalizing new “mystery" flavors,
watermelon, strawberry or blue
raspberry, in every package they buy.

Mean Green Blow Pops

In the Blow pop line, we updated the
packaging with enhanced graphics

on a brighter white, opaque
background. We also introduced
Mean Green, an intensely lime
flavored translucent candy shell
surrounding a bright green, sour lime
flavored bubble gum center. Its
distinctive packaging cautions
consumers to "Prepare to be Limed!"

Concord Confections

In keeping with our stated goal of
making complimentary business
acquisitions, in August we
purchased Concord Confections,
maker of Dubble Bubble, to aur
knowledge the largest maker of
bubble gum in the world, This icon
brand comes in two primary formats

Dubbie Bubble

"Chunk gum' is the familiar pink
colored, tutti-frutti flavored bubble
gum wrapped in wax paper bearing
the instantly recognizable red oval
Dubble Bubble trademark. "Gum
balls" are brightly colored,
spherically shaped and come in
many sizes and flavors, primarily for
sale in gumball machines and tube
packs. Dubble Bubble is the market
leader in both the chunk and ball
gum categories.

Many other brands were included in
the acquisition. Some of these are:

Razzles—the magic dextrose candy
that turns into gum while you eat it

Cry Baby—gum so
sour it can bring a
tear to your eyel

Nik-L-Nip—chewable wax bottles
filled with tasty juice.

Along with these and other brands,
the Concord acquisition included its
principal manufacturing facilities
located near Toronto.

Our sales and marketing departments
are integrating Concord's broad
product assortment and developing
appropriate promotional strategies for
these new items.

Advertising and Public
Relations

Our products again received
extensive cable television exposure
through special interest features, The
Food Network's Unwrapped program
produced new segments on Fluffy
Stuff Cotton Candy, Super Blow
Pops and Tootsie Fruit Rolls. These
are in addition to previous
Unwrapped shows that feature nearly
all of our major brands.

Tootsie Rolls and Tootsie Pops were
spotlighted in "Snack Food Tech" on
Modem Maivels, the History
Chanrel's signature series. That
show, based on engineering
accomplishments, explored the
snack food industry from early
discoveries to the present innovative
technologies employed today.

Exposure on these highly rated
shows, including periodic replays,
generates positive awareness of our
products.

We also utilized cable television to
convey our dlassic "'How Many
Licks?" Tootsie Pops advertising
message. The 2004 campaign was
directed toward cartoon and family
programs, and generated the
inevitable letters from many
consumers who succumbed to the
urge to convey just how many licks it
does take. Alas, the precise answer
remains elusive, lending credence to
Mr. Owl's wise observation: "'the
world may never know!"
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of making products for military
rations. We continue to receive many
gratifying letters from soldiers in Irag
and elsewhere, commenting on how
Tootsie Rolls in their ration kits
brightened their day or brought forth
a nostalgic reminder of home.

There were also numerous articles
and stories in newspapers and other
publications throughout the year
publicizing our products. Many of
these focus on holiday themes such
as "popular Halloween candies” or
“what's new for the Easter season.”
Other articles highlight certain
consumer trends such as the current
popularity of nostalgic ‘retro’
products and feature many of our
brands, which have stood the test of
time and remain consumer favorites.

Manufacturing and Distribution

We continue to invest in projects that
support growing product lines, keep
our production facilities as efficient
as possible and improve product
quality.

We began new capital projects of
these types during the year and
completed several other major
initiatives, which began in prior
years. As technology evolves, we
have continued to realize benefits
through automation.

We have long found merit in sharing
ideas among facilities. As with past
acquisitions, we anticipate that the
addition of Concord's operations will
enhance this process. Accordingly,

we have eagerly begun to share
ideas and best practices between
our other manufacturing and
distribution centers and Concord.

Our distribution centers are
physically capable of handling the
volume of Concord inventory,
enabling us to focus on the complex
process of integrating these
products into our supply chain. This
effort is already well underway.

Purchasing

Prices for key raw materials and
packaging were generally favorable
during the year. In particular, cocoa
eased substantially from recent
historically high levels. However, this
saving was nearly offset by
increased costs in edible ails.

We are in the process of bringing
the procurement activities for
Concord on line with our purchasing
systems. Where possible we will
leverage this additional volume in
our competitive bidding, hedging
and forward purchase programs to
ensure that the company's
purchases are sourced as
economically as possible, with
minimum exposure to short-term
market fluctuations.

Information Technology and
Internal Controls

Integrating Concord into our systems
was a major operational initiative
during 2004. Planning was

completed, certain systems have
been brought over and the
remaining system areas will be
converted to our platform during the
first half of 2005.

Projects of this scope reinforce the
wisdom of past investments of time
and money toward developing state-
of-the-art business systems and data
management protocols. We remain
convinced that information
technology is a prime strategic tool
to support future growth.

Also during 2004 we, as well as
cther large public companies,
undertook the substantial task of
documenting and testing our system
of internal controls in order to meet
the requirements of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act. Completing this process
in a timely fashion required
commitment and cooperation
throughout our organization. We are
pleased to note that our controls
over financial reporting, which we
always believed to be good, are now
documented and tested.

International

Our international sales increased
during 2004. We manufacture and
sell products in Mexico under the
Tutsi trademark. We also sell Tootsie,
Charms and Cencord products to
Canada and over 30 other countries
in Europe, Asia and South and
Central America. Our legacy product
line, coupled with newly acquired
Dubble Bubble products, offer a
compelling and broad assortment of

items that can be extended to
additional foreign markets.

In Appreciation

We believe that people have been
the key ingredient in our recipe for
success over the years. Excellence
is required at every level of the
organization to meet the growing
demands in today's increasingly
competitive marketplace.
Accordingly, we wish to thank our
many loyal employees, customers,
foreign distributors, suppliers and
sales brokers for their efforts on
behalf of the company during 2004.
We also thank our shareholders for
their support through the years.

We remain committed to growing the
sales and profits of the company
and believe that we are well
positioned in this regard as we enter
2005.

Yk bk

Melvin J. Gordon
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

Ellors R Gordeore

Ellen R. Gordon
President and
Chief Operating Officer
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FEStSES That el g two consecutive years and has
diseussion distributed a stock dividend for
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EINANCIAL CONDITION The company has a simple financial
structure, and aside from an
The strong financial condition in immaterial amount of operating
which the company entered 2004, !§ases, the comparty has no
coupled with profitable operations off-balance sheet" financing
©w n @ o oo during the year, enabled us to arrangements. We maintain a
make the largest acquisition in the ;:orzjsen/atlve ftm(zjar;ual postur(ta_ and
company's history without unds generated lrom operations
EeEL,,E,’;RN'NGS incurting undue leverage or plus maturities of short term
$1.37 placing the company at financial investments are expected to beY
sz sz 9B risk. Working capital ended the adequate 1o meet the company's
aurg year at $110,376, down from financing needs over the coming
$180,818 at the beginning of the year. These funds may be
year. The decrease of $70,442 is augmented by prudent borrowing for
du to lowet caeh-and Shorterm significant investments such as was
investments and higher current done for the Concord acquisition.
debt used to finance the Concord
acquisition, partially offset by the RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
working capital acquired.
; 2004 vs. 2003
Interest bearing debt was $99,500
at year end, $62,000 lower than the Net sales in 2004 grew to a record
peak of $161,500 on August 31, $420,110, an increase of $27,454
2004 immediately following the from 2003 sales of $392,656.
acquisition. Debt was paid down Sales benefited from successful
g ow % 2= through a combination of cash flow marketing and promotional

programs, including pre-Halloween
sales programs that have
traditionally made our third quarter
the highest selling period of the
year and did so again this year.

However, the sales increase in
2004 is attributable to sales
resulting from the Concord
acquisition as core brand sales
were approximately even with the
prior year.

Cost of goods sold increased from
56.7% 1o 58.2% of sales. This
increase is due to lower margins
on acquired brands, lower
production volumes in several core
product lines, approximately
$1,800 in start-up costs associated
with a new production line and a
$600 inventory adjustment for a
discontinued product line. These
expenses were partially offset by
somewhat lower raw material and
packaging costs.

Due to the seasonal nature of our
business and corresponding
variations in product mix, gross
margins have historically been
lower in the second half of the
year, and this was the case in
2004. The impact of the factors
discussed above was
concentrated in the fourth quarter.
As a result, fourth quarter gross
margins were lower than in 2003.
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Selling, marketing and
administrative expense increased
as a percent of sales to 20.4% in
2004 from 19.8% in 2003. The
increase is due to expenses
associated with Concord and
approximately $1,500 higher freight
costs related to fuel surcharges,
as well as higher fees associated
with Sarbanes-Oxley compliance
and general cost increases.

Other income declined from
$5,594 in 2003 to $4,784 in 2004
due to higher interest expense and
lower investment eamings, both
related to financing the Concord
acquisition. The consolidated
effective tax rate declined from
33.6% in 2003 to 32.2%. This
decline generally reflects a
reduction in foreign income taxes.

Consolidated net earnings were
$64,174 and $65,014 and eamings
per share were $1.23 and $1.22 in
2004 and 2003, respectively.
Average shares outstanding
declined from 53,305 to 52,366
due to share repurchases.

2003 vs. 2002

Net sales were $392,656 in 2003
compared to $393,185 in 2002, a
decrease of $529 or 0.1%. Factors
effecting sales growth were
generally sluggish US economic
conditions, higher promotional
expense and lower sales in
Mexico. Seasonal sales again
peaked in the third quarter due to
Halloween sales and promotions.

Cost of goods sold as a
percentage of net sales was
56.7% and 56.5% for 2003 and
2002, respectively. Higher costs for
our principal ingredients and
increased plant overhead costs
incurred during 2003 were
generally offset by selective price
increases. Gross margins were
lower in the second half of the
year due to seasonality and
corresponding variations in
product mix.

Selling, marketing and
administrative expenses were
$77,756 in 2003 as compared to
$75,751 in 2002, an increase of
2.6%. These costs were 19.8% of
sales in 2003 versus 19.3% in the
prior year.

Accordingly, earnings from
operations were $92,353 in 2003,
or $2,877 below the $95,230
attained in 2002. Other income
was $5,594 in 2003 as compared
to $5,458 in 2002. The increase of
$136 is primarily attributable to a
$541 property tax refund in 2003,
partially offset by lower interest
income due to lower interest rates.

The consolidated effective tax rate
decreased from 34.1% in 2002 to
33.6% in 2003. This decline
generally reflects a reduction in
state income taxes.

Net earnings were $65,014 and
$66,388 and earnings per share
were $1.22 in both 2003 and 2002.
Earnings per share remained

constant on lower net earnings
due to share repurchases.
Average shares outstanding
declined from 54,592 in 2002 to
53,305 in 2003.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES

Cash flows from operating
activities were $76,228 in 2004,
$83,466 in 2003 and $75,473 in
2002. Both the decline in 2004
and the increase in 2003 were
principally attributable to changes
in accounts receivable due to the
timing of sales and customer
payments. Also, while inventories
grew in each of 2004, 2003 and
2002, the 2004 increase was
higher because of the addition of
Concord items to our supply
chain.

Cash flows from investing activities
reflect the purchase of Concord
Confections for $218,229 as well
as capital expenditures of $17,948
and a $72,138 net decrease in
marketable securities associated
with financing the acquisition. In
2003, capital expenditures were
$12,150 and marketable securities
increased by a net of $38,233. In
2002, capital expenditures were
$10,308 and marketable securities
increased by $19,263.
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reflect a borrowing of $154,000 for
the acquisition and $62,000 of
payments against this loan. Share
repurchases were $16,407, $40,096
and $32,313 in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. Cash dividends
of $14,877, $14,410 and $14,614
were paid in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. 2004 was the sixty-
second consecutive year in which
we have paid cash dividends.

MARKET RISKS

The company is exposed to market
risks related to commodity prices,
interest rates, equity prices and
foreign exchange.

Commodity price risks relate to
ingredients (primarily sugar, cocoa,
corn syrup and vegetable oils). The
company believes its competitors
face similar risks, and the industry
has historically adjusted prices to
compensate for adverse
fluctuations in commodity costs.

To mitigate the impact of
commodity cost fluctuations, the
company enters into commodity
futures contracts to hedge
anticipated purchases of certain
ingredients (primarily sugar). These
contracts are effective as hedges
under Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) 133,
“Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities.
The unrealized gains and losses on

n

such contracts are deferred as a
component of accumulated other
comprehensive earnings (loss) and
are recognized as a component of
cost of goods sold when the related
inventory is sold.

Interest rate risks relate to the
company’s investments in debt
securities (primarily municipal
bonds) with maturities of generally
up to four years. The majority of
these have historically been held to
maturity, which limits the
company’s exposure to interest rate
fluctuations. Interest rates on the
company’s debt obligations are
reset weekly.

Equity price risk relates to the
company’s investments in mutual
funds.

Foreign exchange risk relates to the
company’s foreign operations
including Concord and purchase
commitments.

The company has no outstanding
guarantees of obligations to third
parties.

Commodities

The potential change in fair value
of commodity derivative
instruments (primarily sugar futures
contracts) held by the company,
assuming a 10% change in the
underlying commodity price, was
$858. This analysis only includes
commodity derivative instruments
and, therefore, does not consider

the offsetting effect of changes in
the price of the underlying
commodity. This amount is not
significant compared with the net
earnings and shareholders equity
of the company.

Equity price

At December 31, 2004, the
company has investments in
mutual funds of $25,332. These
investments primarily relate to
hedging deferred compensation
liabilities, and any potential change
in their fair value would be offset by
a corresponding change in such
liabilities.

Interest Rates

The accompanying chart
summarizes the maturities of the
company’s investments in debt
securities at December 31, 2004.

Less than 1 year . . . .. $ 28,701
1290818t s unsmanss 53,014
2-3years . ... ... .. 18,293
Total . .......... ... $100,008

Foreign Exchange

Prior to the acquisition of Concord,
the company’s operations outside
of the United States represented
less than 10% of its consolidated
operations. Accordingly, the
company did not use derivative
financial instruments to hedge its
foreign currency assets or liabilities

or its overall investments in its
foreign subsidiaries.

Certain of Concord’s manufacturing
expenses, including labor and a
portion of its packaging,
ingredients and supplies are
sourced in Canadian dollars. From
time to time the company may use
forward foreign exchange contracts
and derivative instruments to
mitigate its exposure to these costs
as well as those related to firm
commitments to purchase
equipment from foreign vendors.
As of December 31, 2004 the
company had not entered into any
forward foreign exchange contracts
with respect to the Canadian dollar,
and other outstanding foreign
exchange contracts were not
material.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Preparation of the company’s
financial statements involves
judgments due to uncertainties
affecting the application of
accounting policies, and the
likelihood that different amounts
would be reported under different
conditions or using different
assumptions. In the opinion of
management, the company does
not have any individual accounting
policy that is “critical.” However,
following is a summary of the more
significant accounting policies and
methods where estimates are used.
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Revenue, net of applicable
provisions for discounts, returns,
allowances, and certain advertising
and promotional costs, is
recognized when products are
delivered to customers and
collectibility is reasonably assured.
The accounting for such
promotional programs is discussed
below.

Provisions for bad debts are
recorded as selling, marketing and
administrative expense. Such
provisions have not exceeded 0.2%
of net sales for 2004, 2003 and
2002 and, accordingly, have not
been significant to the company's
financial position or results of
operations.

Intangible assets

Effective January 1, 2002 the
company adopted SFAS No. 142,
whereby goodwill and other
indefinite lived assets are not
amortized, but are instead
subjected to annual testing for
impairment. The company’s
intangible assets consist primarily
of trademarks, the values of which
the company has determined are
not impaired.

This determination is made by
comparing the carrying value of the
asset with its estimated fair value,
which is calculated on the basis of
discounted projected future cash
flows. These projected future cash
flows are dependent on a number
of factors including future business
plans and projected operating
results. Although the majority of the
company's trademarks relate to

well established brands with a long
history of consumer acceptance,
projected cash flows are inherently
uncertain. A change in the
assumptions underlying the
impairment analysis, such as a
reduction in projected cash flows
or the use of a different discount
rate, could cause an impairment in
the future.

Customer incentive programs,
advertising and marketing

Advertising and marketing costs
are recorded in the period to which
such costs relate. The company
does not defer the recognition of
any amounts on its consolidated
balance sheet with respect to such
costs. Customer incentives and
other promotional costs are
recorded at the time of sale based
upon incentive program terms and
historical utilization statistics, which
are generally consistent from year
to year.

The liabilities associated with these
programs are reviewed quarterly
and adjusted if utilization rates
differ from management's original
estimates. Such adjustments have
not historically been material to the
company’s operating results.

Investments

The company invests in certain
high-quality debt securities primarily
Aa or better rated municipal bonds.
The accounting for such
investments is outlined in Note 1
and does not involve any
significant estimates on the part of
management. Due to their relatively
short maturities, changes in interest
rates have an immaterial effect on

the principal value of these
investments and no credit losses
have been incurred.

Guarantees

The Financial Accounting
Standards Board issued
Interpretation No. 45 relating to the
accounting for and disclosure of
certain types of guarantees. The
disclosure provisions are effective
for financial statements with years
ending after December 15, 2002.
No disclosures were required for
the company as a result of
adoption of this standard, as it has
no such guarantees outstanding.

Other matters

In the opinion of management,
other than contracts for raw
materials, including commodity
hedges and outstanding purchase
orders for packaging, ingredients

and supplies, all entered into in the
ordinary course of business, the
company does not have any
significant contractual obligations
or future commitments. The
company’s outstanding contractual
commitments as of December 31,
2004, all of which are normal and
recurring in nature, are summarized
in the accompanying chart.

The company provides split dollar
life insurance benefits to certain
executive officers and records an
asset equal to the cumulative
premiums paid on the related
policies, as the company will fully
recover these premiums under the
terms of the plan.

The results of our operations and
our financial condition are
expressed in the following financial
statements.

Open Contractual Commitments as of December 31, 2004

Less than 1103 3 1o 5 More than

Payable in Total 1 year Years Years 5 Years
Commodity

Fedges .« o . $8,588 $5,176  $3412 § — $ —
Purchase obliga-

tions . . ...... 68,919 68,919 — — —
Split dollar insur-

ance........ 8,256 4,815 — —
Interest bearing

debt . ....... 99,500 6,333 85,667 — 7,500
Operating leases 1,350 499 — —
Total......... $186,613  $84,720 $94,393 $ — $7,500

reasonably determined.

Note: the above amounts exclude deferred income tax liabilities of
$25,995, post retirement health care and life insurance benefits of
$10,075 and deferred compensation and other liabilities of $30,020
because the timing of payments relating to these items cannot be
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Assets

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents . .. ... ... ...
INVESIMENTS . . . .
Accounts receivable trade, less allowances of $2,440 and $1,.970 . .. .. .. ... . ... . ... . ... ..
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Machinery and equipment . ... .. ...

Less—Accumulated depreciation . .. ... .. ...

OTHER ASSETS:
Goodwill ..
Trademarks . ... .
IEBINENTE s mussssimunsssimunbaodiminbossmunbossamubossamussssamussanan
Split:dollar officerlife INSUIANEE! « o v v vvunm e ivsameisvusn msesvuanmeivianmaisvsan
Investment in joint venture . ... .. ...

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.)

December 31,

2004 2003
$ 56,989 $ 84,084
32,369 86,961
28,456 18,131
9,001 3,076
37,384 28,969
21,393 17,117
5,719 4416
1,382 951
192,693 243,705
14,973 8,265
61,714 44,960
244,367 206,697
321,054 259,922
142,304 130,759
178,750 129,163
74,002 38,151
193,342 79,348
96,640 112,431
66,094 62,499
10,232 —
440,310 292 429
$811,753 $665,297
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Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Bank loan ... ..
Accounts payable . . ...
Dividenids payable suessomsssssoms s monias g mis a0 M yN S E oM EN NS EHBIBYEE B u
o = = o =
Income taxes payable . ... ...
Total current liabilities . . ... ...
NONCURRENT LIABILITIES:
2 = T R N e R
Deferred iNnCome taXes . . . ... ..
Postretirement health care and life insurance benefits . .. .. ... ... ... ... .. .. . L.
Industrial development bonds . ... ...
Deferred compensation and other liabilities . . .. ...... .. ... ... ...
Total nencument labilities . ww s wasmonsssamunssoaumusnsaamenssanmunsssan

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Common stock, $.69-4/9 par value—

120,000 shares authorized—

34,760 and 34,082, respectively, issued . . . ... ...
Class B common stock, $.69-4/9 par value—

40,000 shares authorized—

17,515 and 17,145, respectively, issued . . .. ... ..
Capital in excess of parvalue . ... ... ...
Retained earnings, per accompanying statement ... ... .. ... ...
Accumulated other comprehensive earnings (I0ss) . .. .. ... ... ...
Treasury stock (at cost)—

58 shares and 56 shares, respectively . .. .. ... ..

December 31,

2004

$ 6,333
19,315
3,659
44,722
8,288

82,317

85,667
25,995
10,075

7,500
30,020

159,257

24,139

12,163
397,745
149,055
(10,931)

1,992
570,179
$811,753

2003

11,947
3,589
38,834
8,517

62,887

22,631
9,302
7,500

26,396

65,829

23,668

11,906
357,922
156,786
(11,709)

1,992
536,581
$665,297
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[image: image15.jpg]CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
Earnings, Comprehensive Earnings and Retained Earnings

TOOTSIE ROLL INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES (in thousands except per share data)

For the year ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Net SAlES . . .. oo $420,110 $392,656 $393,185
Costof goods sold ... ... .. . 244,501 222,547 202,204
GroSS MAIGIN . « ..o 175,609 170,109 170,981
Selling, marketing and administrative expenses . . ... ..................... 85,705 77,756 15,751
Earnings from operations .. . ... ... .. ... 89,904 92,353 95,230
Other income, net .. . ... 4,784 5,594 5,458
Earnings before income taxes .. ... ... ... 94,688 97,947 100,688
Provision for INGOME TaXES s cirim oo samon ot e s sd st m Esasaamunass 30,514 32,933 34,300
Net  amings . .. ... $ 64,174 $ 65,014 $ 66,388
Net amings . . . ... $ 64,174 $ 65,014 $ 66,388
Other comprehensive earnings (I0SS) . .. . ... i 778 (657) (1,139)
CompreliensiVve: GarmMINGSus: « s « » o s s s s v e w5 s n s b 6w a6 6 565580456 $ 64,952 $ 64,357 $ 65,249
Retained earnings at beginning of year . .. ... ... ... .. L. $156,786 $148,705 $161,345

Net arMINGS . . . ..o 64,174 65,014 66,388

Cash dividends ($.28, $.27 and $.26 per share, respectively) . ... ....... .. (14,547) (14,362) (14,304)

Stock dividends . . ... ... (57,358) (42,571) (64,724)
Retained eamnings atend of year . .. ... .. ... .. ... $149,055 $156,786 $148,705
EarmitigsiPErSIaIS u » o e s n son s oo ss o s wn 6 me nos mon 63 s 6 88 A B E R K B A $ 123 $ 122 $ 122
Average common and class B common shares outstanding . . ... ............ 52,366 53,305 54,592

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.)
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[image: image16.jpg]CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

Cash Flows

TOOTSIE ROLL INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES (in thousands)

For the year ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net earnings . . . . ..o o $ 64,174 $ 65,014 $ 66,388
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization. . . ... .. ... 11,680 11,379 12,354
Amortization of marketable securities . . . ... ... ... ... 1,885 2,534 1,407
Purchase of trading securities . . . . ... ... ... . (2,507) (3,154) (2,602)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable ... ... 673 4,266 (2,886)
Otherreceivables : . ::vunnmesvsrrsannmessssssnnmmoressssa 1,574 490 619
INVENTONES . . . .. o (4,567) (2,579) (2,734)
Prepaid expenses and otherassets. .. ........... ... ... . ... .. (5,054) (4,864) (6,502)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . .. ... .. ... ... .. ... 2,478 2,582 5,052
Income taxes payable and deferred .. .. .. .. ... ... 2,712 3,827 318
Postretirement health care and life insurance benefits . .. ... . ... . ... 773 1,151 701
Deferred compensation and other liabilites . .. ............... ... 2,227 2651 2,554
Other cuiuamrrvorssaanmrrssssssaamrisesssaanmeinesssa 180 169 804
Net cash provided by operating activities . . . .............. ... ... .. ... 76,228 83,466 75,473
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired .. .. ........ .. ... . (218,229) — —
Capital expenditures . . .. .. ... 17,948 (12,150 (10,308)
Purchase of held to maturity securities . ... ............ ... ... .. ... 22,049 (57,823) (64,956)
Maturity of held to maturity securities . . ... ... ... .o o 44113 25,643 46,797
Purchase of available for sale securities .. .. ... ... .. ... ... ... .. .. (83,987) (57,578) (34,795)
Sale and maturity of available for sale securities . ... ... ... 134,061 51,525 33,601
Net cash used in investing activities . . . ... ... .. ... ... ... .. ... (164,039) (50,383) (29,571)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from bank loan . . . ... ... 154,000 — —
Repayment of bank loan ... ... ... (62,000) — —
Shares repurchased and retired . ... ... ... 16,407 (40,096) (32,313)
Dividends paid incash ... ... . . ... . . 14,877 (14,410) (14,614)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities . . . .. ............. .. ... 60,716 (54,506) (46,927)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents ... .......... ... .. .. ............ (27,095) (21,423) (1,025)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ... .. .......... .. ... .. .. ... 84,084 105,507 106,532
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year . ...... ... ... .. ... . . ... ... . ... $ 56,989 $ 84,084 $105,507
Supplemental cash flow information:
Income taxes paid . . .. ... $ 28,966 $ 31,561 $ 34,099
Interest paid . . .. ... $ 879 $ 172 $ 309
Stotk dividend iSsuetl w s svsssroomossrse o M I EE I AR E SRV E T B $ 56,959 $ 42513 $ 64,371

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ;. ... .o o i

TOOTSIE ROLL INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTE 1—SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

Basis of consolidation:

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Tootsie Roll Industries, Inc. and its
wholly-owned subsidiaries (the company), which are primarily engaged in the manufacture and
sale of candy products. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year financial statements to conformto the
current year presentation

Revenue recognition and other accounting pronouncements:

Products are sold to customers based on accepted purchase orders which include quantity,
sales price and other relevant terms of sale. Revenues are recognized when products are
delivered to customers and collectibility is reasonably assured. Shipping and handling costs of
$31,795, $28,217 and $28,579 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, are included in selling,
marketing and administrative expenses, Accounts receivable are unsecured. Revenues from a
major customer aggregated approximately 20,8%, 20.6% and 19.6% of total net sales during the
vears ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively,

In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 151, "Inventory Costs—an amendment to ARB
No. 43, Chapter 4," which amends guidance in accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility
expense. The company believes that the pronouncement is generally not applicable to the
company's operations and to the extent it may be applicable it is not expected to have a significant
impact on the company's consolidated financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents:

The company considers temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or
less to be cash equivalents

Investments:

Investments consist of various marketable securities with maturities of generally up to four years, The
company classifies debt and equity securities as either held to maturity, available for sale or trading
Held to maturity securities represent those securities that the company has both the positive intent and
ability to hold to maturity and are carried at amortized cost. Available for sale securities represent those
securities that do not meet the classification of held to maturity; are not actively traded and are carried
at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on these securities are excluded from earnings and are
reported as a separate component of shareholders' equity, net of applicable taxes, until realized
Trading securities relate to deferred compensation arrangements and are carried at fair value.

Hedging activities:

From time to time, the company enters into commodities futures contracts that are intended and
effective as hedges of market price risks associated with the anticipated purchase of certain raw
materials (primarily sugar). To qualify as a hedge, the company evaluates a variety of characteristics of

these transactions, including the probability that the anticipated transaction will occur. If the anticipated
transaction were not to occur, the gain or loss would then be recognized in current eamings. The
company does not engage intrading or other speculative use of derivative instruments. The company
does assume the risk that counter parties may not be able to meet the terms of their contracts. The
company does not expect any losses as a result of counter party defaults

The company's derivative instruments are being accounted for as cash flow hedges and are
recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. Changes therein are recorded in other comprehensive
earnings and are reclassified to earnings in the periods in which earnings are affected by the
hedged item. Substantially all amounts reported in accumnulated other comprehensive earnings
(loss) are expected to be reclassified to cost of goods sold. During the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002, ineffectiveness related to cash flow hedges was not material

Inventories:

Inventories are stated at cost, not to exceed market. The cost of substantially all of the
company's inventories (854,794 and $42,735 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively) has
been determined by the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. The excess of current cost over LIFO cost
of inventories approximates $5,868 and $6,442 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The
cost of certain foreign inventories ($3,983 and $3,351 at December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively) has been determined by the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Rebates, discounts and
other cash consideration received from a vendor related to inventory purchases is reflected as a
reduction in the cost of the related inventory item, and is therefore reflected in cost of sales when
the related inventory item is sold

Property, plant and equipment:

Depreciation is computed for financial reporting purposes by use of the straight-line method
based on useful lives of 20 to 35 years for buildings and 5 to 20 years for machinery and
equipment. Depreciation expense was $11,680, $11,379 and $12,354 in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, including $744 relating to equipment disposals.

Carrying value of long-lived assets:

The company reviews long-lived assets to determine if there are events or circumstances
indicating that the amount of the asset reflected in the company's balance sheet may not be
recoverable. When such indicators are present, the company compares the carrying value of the
long-lived asset, or asset group, to the future undiscounted cash flows of the underlying assets to
determine if an impairment exists. If applicable, an impairment charge would be recorded to write
down the carrying value to its fair value. The determination of fair value involves the use of
estimates of future cash flows that involve considerable management judgment and are based
upon assumptions about expected future operating performance. The actual cash flows could
differ from management's estimates due to changes in business conditions, operating
performance, and economic conditions. No impairment charges were recorded by the company
during 2004, 2003 or 2002,

Postretirement health care and life insurance benefits:

The company provides certain postretirement health care and life insurance benefits. The cost of
these postretirement benefits is accrued during employees' working careers. The company also
provides split dollar life insurance benefits to certain executive officers. The company records an
asset equal to the cumulative insurance premiums that will be recovered upon the death of a
covered employee(s) or earlier under the terms of the plan. Split dollar premiums paid were
$3,620, $4,237 and $6,890 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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The company accounts for intangible assets in accordance with SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets," which was adopted by the company on January 1, 2002. In accordance
with this statement, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized, but rather
tested for impairment at least annually. All trademarks have been assessed by management to
have indefinite lives because they are expected to generate cash flows indefinitely. The company
has completed its annual impairment testing of its goodwill and trademarks during the fourth
quarter of each of the years presented, and no impairment was found

Income taxes:

Deferred income taxes are recorded and recognized for future tax effects of temporary differences
between financial and income tax reporting. Federal income taxes are provided on the portion of
income of foreign subsidiaries that is expected to be remitted to the U.S. and become taxable, but
not on the portion that is considered to be permanently invested in the foreign subsidiary.

Foreign currency translation:

The company has determined the functional currency for each foreign subsidiary, The U.S. dollar
is used as the functional currency where a substantial portion of the subsidiary's business is
indexed to the U.S. dollar or where its manufactured products are principally sold in the U.S, All
other foreign subsidiaries use the local currency as their functional currency, Where the U.S. dollar
is used as the functional currency, foreign currency translation adjustments are recorded as a
charge or credit to other income in the statement of earnings. Where the foreign currency is used
as the functional currency, translation adjustments are recorded as a separate component of
comprehensive earnings (loss)

Joint venture:

The company's 50% interest in two Spanish companies is accounted for using the equity
method. The company records an increase in its investment in the joint venture to the extent of its
share of the joint venture's eamings, and reduces its investment to the extent of dividends
received. No dividends were received during 2004,

Comprehensive earnings:

Comprehensive eamnings includes net earnings, foreign currency translation adjustments and
unrealized gains/losses on commodity hedging contracts and marketable securities

Earnings per share:

A dual presentation of basic and diluted earnings per share is not required due to the lack of
potentially dilutive securities under the company's simple capital structure. Therefore, all earnings
per share amounts represent basic earnings per share

The Clags B Common Stock has essentially the same rights as Common Stock, except that
each share of Class B Common Stock has ten votes per share (compared to one vote per share of
Common Stock), is not traded on any exchange, is restricted as to transfer and is convertible on a
share-for-share basis, at any time and at no cost to the holders, into shares of Common Stock
which are traded on the New York Stock Exchange:

NOTE 2—ACCRUED LIABILITIES:

Accrued liabilities are comprised of the following

December 31,
2004 2003
Compensation $13,839 $12,213
Other employee benefits 5,261 4,998
Taxes, other than income 2,248 2,531
Advertising and promotions 13,710 11,525
Other 9,664 7,567
$44,722 $38,834

NOTE 3—BANK LOAN AND INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BONDS:

The bank loan is payable in quarterly installments through August of 2006, As a result of
prepayments made in 2004, the next quarterly installment is due in December, 2005, The loan is
collateralized by investments in marketable securities and is subject to otherterms and conditions,
none of which are significant. Interest is LIBOR based, and the average rate was 2.0% in 2004

Industrial development bonds are due in 2027. The average floating interest rate was 1.3% and
1.2% in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

NOTE 4—INCOME TAXES:

The domestic and foreign components of pretax income are as follows

2004 2003 2002
Domestic $89,164 $96,170 $ 98,878
Foreign 5,524 1,777 1,710
$94,688 $97,047 $100,688

The provision for income taxes is comprised of the following

2004 2003 2002
Current
Federal $26,303 $27 904 $32,303
Foreign 731 485 553
State 1,070 1,202 1,523
28,104 29,591 34,379
Deferred
Federal 2,907 3,465 (286)
Foreign (805) (252) 176
State 108 129 31
2,410 3,342 (79)
$30,514 $32,933 $34,300
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Significant components of the company's net deferred tax liability at year end were as follows

December 31,
2004 2003
Deferred tax assets

Deferred compensation $ 9,937 $ 8,855
Post retirement benefits 3,493 3,076
Reserve for uncollectible accounts 480 480
Other accrued expenses 2,380 2337
Foreign subsidiary tax loss carry forward 1,164 157
Foreign subsidiary tax credit carry forward 2,039 2,008
Inventory reserves 1,106 1,080
Other 1,512 1,231

22,111 19314
Valuation reserve 1,183 1,522
Total deferred tax assets $20,928 $17,792

Deferred tax liabilities

Depreciation $19,838 $18,333
Deductible goodwill and trademarks 15,840 12,835
Accrued export company commissions 3,087 2,825
VEBA funding 71 460
Inventory reserves 2,233 2629
Prepaid insurance 985 —
Other 3,047 2,390
Total deferred tax liabilities $45,541 $39,472
Net deferred tax liability $24,613 $21,680

At December 31, 2004, the tax benefit of foreign subsidiary tax loss carry forwards expiring by
vear are as follows: $27 in 2005, $11 in 2009, $928 in 2011, $27 in 2012 and $171 in 2014

Also at December 31, 2004, the amounts of the foreign subsidiary tax credit camy forwards
expiring by year are as follows: $48 in 2005, $244 in 2007, $222 in 2008, $198 in 2009, $329 in
2010, $342 in 2011, $328 in 2012, $2791in 2013 and $49 in 2014. A valuation allowance has been
established for these carry forward credits to reduce the future income tax benefits to amounts
expected to be realized

The effective income tax rate differs from the statutory rate as follows

2004 2003 2002
U8, statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net 0.8 0.9 1.0
Exempt municipal bond interest (1.2) (1.6) (1.8)
Foreign tax rates 1.9 —
Other, net 0.5 0.7) 0.1)
Effective income tax rate 32.2% 33.6% 34.1%

The company has not provided for U.S. federal or foreign withholding taxes on $13,411 and $7,763
of foreign subsidiaries' undistributed earnings as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003,
respectively, because such eamings are considered to be permanently reinvested. It is not
practicable to determine the amount of income taxes that would be payable upon remittance of the
undistributed earnings.

On October 22, 2004, the President signed the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the "Act")
The Act creates a temporary incentive for U.S. corporations to repatriate accumulated income
eamed abroad by providing an 85% dividends received deduction for certain dividends from
controlled foreign corporations. The deduction is subject to a number of limitations and, as of today,
uncertainty remains as to how to interpret certain provisions of the Act. As such, the Company has
not yet determined whether, and to what extent, it may repatriate eamings that have not yet been
remitted to the U.S. and therefore makes no estimate as to the amount of future remittances.

The Act also provides for a deduction for income from qualified domestic production activities,
which will be phased in from 2005 through 2010. This provision also is subject to a number of

limitations which effect the effective tax rate in 2005 and later. The company has not yet determined
the extent to which its effective rate will change

Certain Mexican tax laws were amended during 2004, These become effective primarily during
2005, The company has considered these amendments in determining the 2004 income tax
provigion, and will continue to monitor their impact during 2005

NOTE 5—SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL IN EXCESS OF PAR VALUE:

Class B
Common Stock Common Stock  Treasury Stock gi@g gf

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount par value

(000's) (000's) (000's)

Balance at January 1, 2002 34,139 $23,708 16319 $11,332 (53) $(1,992) $323981
Issuance of 3% stock dividend 1,009 700 488 339 (&3] — 63,332
Conversion of Class B common

shares to common shares 48 33 (48) (33 — — —
Purchase and retirement of common

shares (948) (658) — - = — (31655
Balance at December 31, 2002 34248 23783 16759 11,638 (55 (1.992) 355658
Issuance of 3% stock dividend 1,017 706 502 349 (1) — 41,458
Conversion of Class B common

shares to common shares 116 81  (116) 81y — — —
Purchase and retirement of common

shares (1,299) (902) — - = —  (39.194)
Balance at December 31, 2003 34,082 23668 17,145 11,906 (56) (1992) 357,922
Issuance of 3% stock dividend 1,009 701 513 356 2 — 55,901
Conversion of Class B common

shares to common shares 143 99 (143 99 — — —
Purchase and retirement of common

shares (474) (329) — — — (16,078

34,760 $24,130 17,515 $12,163 (58) $(1,999) $397,745

Balance at December 31, 2004

Average shares outstanding and all per share amounts included in the financial statements and
notes thereto have been adjusted retroactively to reflect annual three percent stock dividends.

While the company does not have a formal or publicly announced stock repurchase program,
the company's board of directors periodically authorizes a dollar amount for share repurchases.

Based upon this policy, shares were purchased and retired as follows

Total Number Of Shares Average Price Paid Per

Year Purchased Share
2004 474 $34.56
2003 1,299 $30.82
2002 948 $34.03

NOTE 6—OTHER INCOME, NET:

Other income (expense) is comprised of the following

2004 2003 2002
Interest and dividend income $3,784 $4,465 $5,556
Interest expense ©12) (172) (309)
Joint venture income 232 = —
Foreign exchange gains (losses) 453 (78) (208)
Royalty income 698 542 371
Capital gains (losses) (163) 112 (35)
Rental income 413 88 2
Miscellaneous, net 279 637 79

$4,784 $5,594 $5,458
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Pension plans:

The company sponsors defined contribution pension plans covering certain nonunion
employees with over one year of credited service. The company's policy is to fund pension costs
accrued based on compensation levels. Total pension expense for 2004, 2003 and 2002
approximated $3,135, $3,073 and $2,867, respectively. The company also maintains certain profit
sharing and savings-investment plans. Company contributions in 2004, 2003 and 2002 to these
plans were $806, $796 and $709, respectively.

The company also contributes to multi-ermployer defined benefit pension plans for its union
employees. Such contributions aggregated $1,007, $1,048 and $1,055 in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The relative position of each employer associated with the multi-employer plans with
respect to the actuarial present value of benefits and net plan assets is not determinable by the
COMpary.

Deferred compensation

The company sponsors three deferred compensation plans for selected executives and other
employees: (i) the Excess Benefit Plan, which restores retirement benefits lost due to IRS
limitations on contributions to tax-qualified plans, (i) the Supplemental Plan, which allows eligible
employees to defer the receipt of eligible compensation until designated future dates and (iii) the
Career Achievement Plan, which provides a deferred annual incentive award to selected
executives, Participants in these plans earn a return on amounts due them based on several
investrnent options, which mirror returns on underlying investments (primarily mutual funds). The
company hedges its obligations under the plans by investing in the actual underlying investments.
These investments are classified as trading securities and are carried at fair value. At
December 31, 2004 and 2003, these investments totaled $25,300 and $21,200, respectively. All
gains and losses in these investments are equally offset by corresponding gains and losses in the
company's deferred compensation liabilities.

Postretirement health care and life insurance benefit plans:

The company provides certain postretirement health care and life insurance benefits for
corporate office and management employees. Employees become eligible for these benefits
based upon their age and service and if they agree to contribute a portion of the cost. The
company has the right to modify or terminate these benefits. The company does not fund
postretirement health care and life insurance benefits in advance of payments for benefit claims.

The changes in the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at December 31, 2004 and
2003 consist of the following

December 31,
2004 2003
Benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 9,302 $8,151
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost 992 1,327
Benefits paid 219 176,
Benefit obligation, end of year $10,075 $9,302

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost included the following components

2004 2003 2002
Service cost—benefits attributed to

service during the period $521 $ 638 $462
Interest cost on the accumulated

postretirernent benefit obligation 514 604 481
Amortization of unrecognized net gain (43) 85 (30)
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $992 $1,327 $913

For measurement purposes, a 9.0% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered
health care benefits was assumed for 2004; the rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 5.5%
for 2011 and remain at that level thereafter. The health care cost trend rate assumption has a

significant effect on the amounts reported. The weighted-average discount rate used in
determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was 575% and 6.0% at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Increasing or decreasing the health care trend rates by one percentage point in each year would
have the following effect on

1% Increase 1% Decrease

Postretirement benefit obligation $1.315 $(1,075
Total of service and interest cost components $ 212 $ (170

The company estimates future benefit payments will be $364, $355, $424, $447 and $455 in
2005 through 2009, respectively, and a total of $2,633 in 2010 through 2014, In December 2003,
the FASB issued a revised SFAS No. 132, "Employers' Disclosures about Pensgions and Other
Postretirement Benefits," which the company adopted in 2003. In January 2004, the FASB issued
Staff Position No. 106-1, "Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003" (FSP 106-1) which the company
adopted during 2004. The company intends to integrate its retiree prescription drug benefit with
the federal benefit that will become available to Medicare eligible retirees in 2006. In accordance
with FSP 106-1 the company's accumulated postretirement benefit obligation has been reduced
by an unrecognized gain of $864 as of December 31, 2004 related to the federal benefit

NOTE 8—COMMITMENTS:
Rental expense aggregated $1,012, $962 and $941 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Future operating lease commitments are not significant

NOTE 9—SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION:

The company operates as a single reportable segment encompassing the manufacture and
sale of confectionery products, Its principal manufacturing operations are located in the United
States and Canada, and its principal market is the United States. The company also manufactures
and sells confectionery products in Mexico, and exports products to Canada as well as to over
30 countries worldwide

The following geographic data include net sales summarized on the basis of the custormer
location and long-lived assets based on their physical location

2004 2003 2002
Net Sales
United States $387,280 $362,373  $361,446
Foreign 32,830 30,283 31,739
$420,110  $392,656  $393,185
Long-lived assets
United States $293,618 $283362  $297,894
Foreign 58,098 5013 5738
$351,716  $288,375  $303,632

NOTE 10—DISCLOSURES ABOUT THE FAIR VALUE AND CARRYING
AMOUNT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:

The carrying amount approximates fair value of cash and cash equivalents because of the short
maturity of those instruments. The fair values of investments are estimated based on quoted
market prices. The fair value of the company's bank loan and industrial development bonds
approximates their carrying value because they have a floating interest rate.

During the third quarter of 2004 approximately $36,000 of held to maturity investments were
liquidated in connection with financing the acquisition of Concord Confections. As a result, the
$101,000 balance of held to maturity securities was reclassified to available for sale. This change in
classffication was not significant to the company's 2004 net earnings or comprehensive earnings.
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The carrying amount and estimated fair values of the company's financial instruments are as follows

2004 2003
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Cash and cash equivalents $ 56,989 § 56,989 $ 84,084  $ 84084
Investments held to maturity — — 136,801 137,609
Investments available for sale 103,676 108,676 41,346 41,346
Investments in trading
securities 25,332 25,332 21,243 21,243
Bank loan and industrial development bonds 99,500 99,500 7,500 7,500

A summary of the aggregate fair value, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses and
amortized cost basis of the company's investment portfolio by major security type is as follows

December 31, 2004

Fair Unrealized

Available for Sale Cost Value Gains Losses
Municipal bonds $100,630 §$100008 $ — § (6229
Mutual funds 2,714 3,668 954 —

$103344 §$103676 §$ 954 § (629

December 31, 2003

Amortized __ Unrealized
Held to Maturity Cost Fair Value Gains Losses
Municipal bonds $ 136,35 $ 137,170 § 814 § —
Unit investrment trusts of municipal bonds 445 439 — (6)

$ 136801 §$ 137609 § 814 § (6)
Available for Sale
Municipal bonds $ 53061 $ 53202 % 141 %

Mutual funds 21454 3075 621 -
$ 55515 § 56277 § 762 §

Avallable for sale securities of $14,931 were included in cash and cash equivalents at December 31,
2003. There were no securities with maturities greater than four years and gross realized gains and
losses on the sale of available for sale securities in 2004 and 2003 were not significant

NOTE 11—COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:

The following table sets forth information with respect to accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss)

Foreign Unrealized Unrealized Accumulated
Currency Gain (Loss) Gains Other
Translation On (Losses) Comprehensive
Adjustment  Investments  on Derivatives  Earnings (Loss)

Balance at January 1, 2002 $ (9,977 $ 449 $ (385 $ (9,913

Unrealized gains (losses) 1,533 (798) (85, 2,396,
(Gains) losses reclassified to

net earnings — 60 1,429 1,489

Tax effect — 073 (505) (232)

Net of tax amount (1,533) (465) 859 (1,139)

Balance at December 31, 2002 (11,510 (16) 474 (11,052

Unrealized gains (losses) (647 784 890 1,027
(Gains) losses reclassified to

net earnings — 2 (1,690) (1,688)

Taix effect — (290) 204 4

Net of tax amount (647) 496 (508) (657)

Balance at December 31, 2003 (12,157) 480 (32) (11,709

Unrealized gains (losses) 193 (585) 2,594 2,202
(Gains) losses reclassified to

net earnings — 155 (1,237) (1,082)

Tax effect — 159 (501) (342)

Net of tax amount 193 (271) 856 778

Balance at December 31, 2004 $(11,964) $ 209 $ 824 $(10,931)

NOTE 12—ACQUISITION:

On August 30, 2004, the company purchased certain assets and assumed certain liabilities from
Concord Confections, Inc. and its affiliates (collectively Concord) including its 50% equity interest
in a Spanish joint venture. Cash consideration paid of $218,229 was funded by the liquidation of
$64,229 of marketable securities and a bank term loan of $154,000. The results of Concord's
operations have been included in the company's condensed consolidated financial statements
since August 30, 2004, Concord holds a strong market position in the bubble gum category and its
products are sold primarily under the Dubble Bubble brand name and trademark.

The acquisition has been accounted for under SFAS 141, "Business Combinations," and
accordingly the purchase method of accounting has been used. The allocation of purchase price is
based on management's determination and professional valuations of the fair value of the assets
acquired and liabilities to be assumed. The final allocation to goodwill could be affected by the final
determination of the required minimum working capital amount that was to be provided under the
terms of the Concord purchase contract. The adjusted purchase price was allocated as follows

Calculation of adjusted purchase price

Cash consideration paid for net assets acquired $218,229
Direct transactions fees and expenses 1,000
Less—Adjustment to purchase relating to minimum working capital required (6,642
Total adjusted purchase price $212,567
Allocation of adjusted purchase price
Net working capital $ 7722
Step up of inventories 1,622
Investment in joint venture 10,000
Property, plant and equipment 43,399
Indefinite lived trademarks 113,994
Goodwill—deductible for income tax 35,850
Total adjusted purchase price $212,567

The following table includes the unaudited pro forma net sales, net earnings and net earnings
per share for 2004 and 2003 as if the company had acquired Concord as of January 1, 2003, Pro
forma adjustments are necessary to reflect costs and expenses of financing the purchase,
including additional interest expense relating to bank borrowings and the decrease in investment
income reflecting the sale of marketable securities, and changes in depreciation expense resulting
from fair value adjustments to net tangible assets.

The unaudited pro forma combined financial information presented does not reflect any cost
savings or synergies that might be realized, including the anticipated elimination of substantially all
of the Concord historical senior executive compensation and other management expenses which
aggregated approximately $3,872 and $10,283 net of income taxes for the twelve months of 2004
and 2003, respectively. The pro forma results also reflect $495 and $12,007 of historical foreign
exchange gains net of tax for 2004 and 2003, respectively.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED
INCOME STATEMENT OF TOOTSIE ROLL AND CONCORD
FOR THE TWELVE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2003

2004 2003
Combined  Combined
Pro forma  Pro forma
Net sales $479,278 $467 522
Net earnings $ 64,673 $ 71,802
Earnings per share $ 124 $ 135

The pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of what actually would have occurred if the
acquisition had been completed as of the beginning of the presented periods, nor are they
necessarily indicative of future consolidated results
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The management of Tootsie Roll Industries, Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (SEC) Rule 13a-15(f). Our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004 as required by SEC Rule 13a-15(c). In making this assessment, we used the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Based on our evaluation under the COSO criteria, our
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004.

Management has excluded Concord Confections, Ltd. from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 because it was acquired by
the company in a purchase business combination during 2004. Concord Confections, Ltd. is a wholly-owned subsidiary whose total assets and total revenues represent
29% and 6%, respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Our management's assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP
an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears on page 19.

Tootsie Roll Industries, Inc.

Chicago, lllinois
March 11, 2005

Required Certifications

In 2004, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer submitted to the New York Stock Exchange the required Annual CEO Certification certifying that he was not aware of any
violation by the Company of the exchange's corporate governance listing standards, other than that the certification itself was inadvertently filed later than within 30 days
subsequent to the 2004 annual stockholders’ meeting date as required.

The Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission the certifications required of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required
under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as exhibits to the Form 10-K for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004.
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Tootsie Roll Industries, Inc

We have completed an integrated audit of Tootsie Roll Industries, Inc.'s 2004 consclidated financial statements and of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 and
audits of its 2003 and 2002 consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions, based on
our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements

Inour opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance shests and the related consolidated statements of eamings, comprehensive earnings, retained earnings, and cash flows present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of Tootsie Roll Industries, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial staterments based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstaternent. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that the Company maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 based on criteria established in Intemal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
ofthe Treadway Commission (COSQ), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Contro—integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The Company's management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express
opinions on management's assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over
financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control,
and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
staterments for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's interal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (i) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (i) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely dstection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

As describedin Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management has excluded Concord Confections, Ltd. from its assessment of internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004 because it was acquired by the Company in a purchase business combination during 2004, We have also excluded Concord Confections, Ltd. from our
audit of internal control over financial reporting. Concord Confections, Ltd. is a wholly-owned subsidiary whose total assets and total revenues represent 29% and 6% |, respectively, of the
related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004

et o
Chicago, lllinois

March 11, 2005
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[image: image24.jpg]Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

TOOTSIE ROLL INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(Thousands of dollars except per share data)

2004 First Second Third Fourth Total
Nel:salest wu o www s umm e e mam o s s m mm e e e v w8 6w s % m 6 8888w 86w $80,046 $77,157 $156,971 $105,936 $420,110
GroSS MAIGIN . . ..t 34,730 34,992 64,804 41,083 175,609
Net amings . ... ... 11,498 11,828 26,976 13,877 64,174
Netieamings: POrSHAIS = s o u v s s s ss s s s s s u s mensws g ms s ss s msassa 22 22 52 .27 1.23
2003

Netsales. . .. .. $75,570 $77,725 $147,201 $92,160 $392,656
GroSS MAIGIN . © ..ot 32,601 35,541 61,932 40,035 170,109
Neleamings « svrssgomssessomosies oM oa sl i BoNEsdoWENEssambREsg 10,909 12,317 26,945 14,843 65,014
Net earnings pershare . ... ... ... .. .20 23 51 .28 1.22
2002

Nl alESt: o s v s mmm e i v mam o s v mm e e v w8 6 s w8 % B 8RR A B $78,991 $77,131 $146,298 $90,765 $393,185
GroSS MAIGIN . © ..o 35,505 35,411 61,560 38,505 170,981
Net amings . .. ... 12,772 12,316 26,616 14,684 66,388
Netieamings: POrSHAIS = s o u v s s s ss s s s s s u s mensws g ms s ss s msassa 23 .23 49 27 1.22

Net earnings per share is based upon average outstanding shares as adjusted for 3% stock dividends issued during the second quarter of each
year. The sum of the per share amounts may not equal annual amounts due to rounding.

2004-2003 QUARTERLY SUMMARY OF TOOTSIE ROLL INDUSTRIES, INC. STOCK PRICE AND DIVIDENDS PER SHARE

STOCK PRICES*

2004 2003
High Low High Low

1stQtr ... .. $37.86 $35.00 $30.91 $27.30
ond Qtr ... $37.60 $32.41 $32.37 $28.75
Brd Qrwvwa $32.60 $29.08 $32.05 $29.60
4th Qir ... .. $34.63 $29.24 $36.94 $32.08
*NYSE — Composite Quotations
Estimated Number of shareholders at March 2005:

Common Stock ... ... 18,000

Class B Common Stock . . ... ... ... ... ... ... 5,000

DIVIDENDS

2004 2003
IstQtr. ... ... $.0681 $.0662
P G oo ina s $.0701 $.0680
Grd QY wiuus $.0700 $.0680
ahQtr..... .. $.0700 $.0680

NOTE: In addition to the above cash dividends, a 3% stock
dividend was issued on April 14, 2004 and April 16, 2003. Cash
dividends are restated to reflect 3% stock dividends.
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[image: image25.jpg]Five Year Summary of Earnings and Financial Highlights

TOOTSIE ROLL INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(Thousands of dallars except per share, percentage and ratio figures)

(1)

(See Management's Comments starting on page 5) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Sales and Eamings Data (2)
NetisalesS wsursmunssnosmussanumunnsasmenss $420,110 $ 392,656 $393,185 $391,755 $396,816
GrOSS MAMGINT o sosowwsmam ov v v nm s w e s o b e 175,609 170,109 170,981 173,858 188,585
Interest expense . .. ... ... 912 172 309 356 866
Provision for income taxes . . ... . ... . ... . .. ... 30,514 32,933 34,300 35,100 42,071
Neteamings ... ............. ... ...... 64,174 65,014 66,388 65,687 75,737
%ofsales ... ... .. ... ... 15.3% 16.6% 16.9% 16.8% 19.1%
% of sharehelders el .« - v o wvssssumusnas 11.3% 121% 12.6% 12.9% 16.5%
Per Common Share Data (1)
Neteamings ... ............. . ... . ..... $ 128 $ 122 $ 122 $ 119 $ 137
Cash dividends declared ... ........... ... .... .28 27 26 .26 24
Stockidividends . s v v v nam v v vanwri s gy 3% 3% 3% 3% 3%
Additional Financial Data (2)
Werking €apital « scuusuvsnmusunsnmunsnanmenss $110,376 $180,818 $161,852 $188,250 $145,765
Net cash provided by operating activities . . .. ... ... 76,228 83,466 75,473 80,915 82,501
Net cash used in investing activities . . . ... ... ... 164,039 50,383 29,571 19,165 64,177
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities . . . 60,716 (54,506) (46,927) (16,100) (46,036)
Property, plant & equipment additions . ... ........ 17,948 12,150 10,308 14,148 16,189
Net property, plant & equipment .. .............. 178,750 129,163 128,869 132,575 131,118
Total asselS s wesmunsunsumasunsnmunsnaamanss 811,753 665,297 646,080 618,676 562,442
Longtermidebt . o vvvvvunmsvvnunmeivinam ey 93,167 7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500
Shareholders’ equity . . .. ... ... ... ... .. . ... 570,179 536,581 526,740 508,461 458,696
Average shares outstanding (1) . .. ............ .. 52,366 53,305 54,592 54,985 55,432

Adjusted for annual 3% stock dividends,

(&) Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year numbers to conform to curent year presentation
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